

Myanmar National Framework for

Community Disaster Resilience

Promoting People-centered, Inclusive, and Sustainable Local Development

"If improvements in the development sectors do not integrate disaster risk reduction, they could exacerbate existing disaster risk and create new forms of disaster risk. Building disaster resilience in Myanmar becomes more important than ever to save lives, to protect investment and to ensure the sustainability of development gains."

MINISTRY OF SOCIAL WELFARE, RELIEF AND RESETTLEMENT

The Myanmar National Framework for Community Disaster Resilience seeks to achieve people- centered, inclusive, and sustainable socioeconomic development in the face of disasters triggered by natural hazards and climate change. The framework articulates a common understanding, proposes a coherent approach, and identifies potential opportunities for strengthening the resilience of communities in Myanmar.

iii

CONTENTS

FOREWORD	V
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	VI
DISASTER RESILIENT COMMUNITY: A VISION	VII
KEY MESSAGES	VII
OVERVIEW	VIII
SECTION 1 CONTEXT	1
1.1 DISASTER RISK IN MYANMAR: A DYNAMIC INTERACTION BETWEEN NATURAL HAZARD EXPOSURE AND VULNERABILITIES	S , 2
1.2 NEED FOR COMMUNITY-BASED APPROACHES TO STRENGTHEN DISASTER RESILIENCE	6
1.3 DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES IN SUPPORT OF COMMUNITY DISASTER RESILIENCE	7
SECTION 2 COMMUNITY DISASTER RESILIENCE FRAMEWORK	11
2.1 OBJECTIVES	12
2.2 PROMOTING A COMMON UNDERSTANDING	13
2.3 PROPOSING A COHERENT APPROACH	15
2.4 IDENTIFYING POTENTIAL OPPORTUNITIES	16
2.4.1 RURAL LIVELIHOODS AND VILLAGE INFRASTRUCTURE	16
2.4.2 URBAN DEVELOPMENT	18
2.4.3 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION AND FORESTRY	19
2.4.4 FINANCIAL INCLUSION	20
2.4.5 SOCIAL PROTECTION	21
2.4.6 DISASTER RISK MANAGEMENT	22
SECTION 3 IMPLEMENTATION OF THE COMMUNITY DISASTER RESILIENCE FRAMEWORK	25
3.1 ACHIEVING COMMUNITY DISASTER RESILIENCE OUTCOMES THROUGH SECTOR INTERVENTIONS	26
3.1.1 STRENGTHENING COMMUNITY DISASTER RESILIENCE THROUGH RURAL LIVELIHOODS AND VILLAGE INFRASTRUCTURE	26
3.1.2 STRENGTHENING COMMUNITY DISASTER RESILIENCE THROUGH URBAN DEVELOPMEN	T 30
3.1.3 STRENGTHENING COMMUNITY DISASTER RESILIENCE THROUGH FORESTRY	32
3.2 REACHING OUT TO THE MOST VULNERABLE THROUGH KEY THEMES OF DEVELOPMENT	r 34
3.2.1 STRENGTHENING COMMUNITY DISASTER RESILIENCE THROUGH FINANCIAL INCLUSION	N 34
3.2.2 STRENGTHENING COMMUNITY DISASTER RESILIENCE THROUGH SOCIAL PROTECTION	37
3.2.3 STRENGTHENING DISASTER PREPAREDNESS	40
3.3 STRENGTHENING COORDINATION	44
3.4 ENHANCING CAPACITY	48
3.5 MONITORING AND EVALUATING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE NATIONAL FRAMEWOR	RK 51
BIBLIOGRAPHY AND OTHER WORKS CONSULTED	52



FOREWORD

Disaster risk is a critical development concern for Myanmar. Every year, people across the country, mostly the poor and most vulnerable, suffer from disasters that are triggered by natural hazards such as floods, tropical cyclones, droughts, landslides and earthquakes. With global warming and climate change, extreme weather events are more frequent and we have to prepare for such occurrences. Loss and damage due to these disasters exceeds the adaptive capacity of the country. Thus, disaster-related losses result in a setback of the implementation of our social and economic policy of achieving inclusive and continuous development unless actions are taken to strengthen resilience of Myanmar communities.

The Myanmar National Framework for Community Disaster Resilience has been developed to guide stakeholders in building resilience of Myanmar communities. The framework has been developed under the leadership of the Ministry of Social Welfare, Relief and Resettlement that is the secretariat of the National Disaster Management Committee (NDMC), and through extensive consultation with different ministries, development partners, and civil society organizations. The framework identifies actions to strengthen resilience so that communities are better prepared, can withstand the impacts of disasters, and are able to recover quickly. These actions are community-based and span across key sectors such as rural and urban development, agriculture, environmental conservation and forestry, financial inclusion, social protection, and disaster preparedness. The implementation requires an inclusive approach, and leveraging partnerships and resource mobilization through the cooperation of government organizations, civil society organizations, the private sector, and development partners.

Implementation of this framework is critical for building a resilient society, and for realizing our regional and global commitments and priorities related to the 2030 Sustainable Development Goals, the Paris Agreement on Climate Change, and the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction (2015-2030).

I acknowledge and appreciate the efforts of all ministries and partners in developing the Myanmar National Framework for Community Disaster Resilience and urge you to support its implementation.

H.E. Prof. Dr. Win Myat Aye Vice Chairperson/ National Disaster Management Committee Union Minister for Social Welfare, Relief and Resettlement

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The preparation of this framework was led by the Relief and Resettlement Department, Ministry of Social Welfare, Relief and Resettlement in its capacity as Chair of National Disaster Management Working Committee of National Disaster Management Committee, in close consultation with different ministries of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar, the Asian Development Bank (ADB), and the members of the Myanmar Disaster Risk Reduction Working Group.

The development of the framework immensely benefited from the specialist knowledge of staff from different government departments who participated at the national consultation workshops and sector-specific consultations held in Nay Pyi Taw, and from the development partners as well as international and national nongovernment organizations that participated in the consultation workshops held in Nay Pyi Taw and Yangon. In particular, the lessons learned and experiences gained by local government and nongovernment organizations from implementing community-based disaster risk management and wider community-driven development projects helped shape the framework.

The Ministry of Social Welfare, Relief and Resettlement would like to thank the members of the Myanmar Disaster Risk Reduction Working Group, in particular the United Nations Development Programme, the United Nations Children's Fund, the United Nations Human Settlements Programme, World Vision, and the members of the Myanmar Consortium for Community Resilience led by ActionAid, for their technical inputs and support in developing this framework. Special thanks go to the Livelihoods and Food Security Trust Fund of Myanmar, Building Resilience and Adaptation to Climate Extremes and Disasters Programme, and the World Bank for sharing their experiences of ongoing work on community-driven development, social protection, and community resilience.

The Ministry of Social Welfare, Relief and Resettlement would like to extend its appreciation to the Asian Development Bank for providing technical assistance through its Integrated Disaster Risk Management Fund financed by the Government of Canada.

DISASTER RESILIENT COMMUNITY: A VISION

A disaster resilient community in Myanmar is accurately informed about the natural hazard environment and disaster risk, and able to factor such information into dayto-day decision-making processes. Such a community adopts inclusive planning process to identify and implement measures – structural, ecosystem-based and nonstructural, some at the household level and others at the community level, to reduce disaster risk. In the case of a disaster event, they are better prepared and can withstand the impact by drawing on timely support of community members and local organizations. They are able to recover quickly from any disaster event thanks to continuity of services, social welfare support, and access to financing.

KEY MESSAGES

- Communities in Myanmar suffer high losses from disasters triggered by natural hazards. This impacts their lives, livelihoods, and well-being. These losses can be reduced through disaster risk management for communities to become resilient.
- Resilience-building measures, when identified, implemented, and managed at the community level and in the context of local development, are likely to address the underlying causes of disaster risk. They are also economically viable, bring wider development gains in the immediate term, and are likely to be flexible enough to accommodate possible changes in the local settings. These could be changes in hazard intensity and frequency because of climate change or changes due to transboundary risk or changes in wider risk governance.
- Investments in different sectors and themes of development through both public, private and development partners in the area of—rural livelihoods, village infrastructure, spatial planning, urban housing, forestry, financial services, and social protection—provide opportunities for undertaking resilience-building measures at the community level.
- Successful implementation of resilience-building measures at the community level requires a whole-of-government approach, as well as leveraging partnerships with civil society organizations, the private sector, and development partners. The ongoing social and economic reforms and the evolving process of decentralization provide opportunities to adopt such an approach.
- Community-level measures to strengthen disaster resilience are critical for achieving the inclusive and sustainable socioeconomic development of Myanmar. They support Myanmar's development objectives and commitments to the global community through the Sustainable Development Goals, the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction, and the Paris Agreement on climate change.

I. **Issue**: Communities in Myanmar are at the front line of disaster risk—extreme events and recurrent small-scale "everyday disasters," which pose a serious threat to their inclusive and sustainable socioeconomic development.

Communities in Myanmar, especially the poor and most vulnerable, face a high disaster risk. Between 1980 and 2015, disasters triggered by natural hazards—floods, tropical cyclones, earthquakes, landslides, and droughts—caused significant losses of life and direct physical losses.¹ However, the true extent of such disaster events often go way beyond and may result in longer-term detrimental impact on the lives, livelihoods, and well-being of the affected population. For example, the floods and landslides of 2015 are expected to result in significant decline in the quality of life of the disaster-affected population in Chin State.

Disaster risk in Myanmar is a product of inappropriate development practices and existing socioeconomic vulnerabilities. While disasters are triggered by natural hazards, their devastating effects are largely due to inappropriate development practices, which increase exposure of people and their assets and livelihoods to these hazard events and the existing physical and socioeconomic vulnerabilities. For example, rural farmers are engaged in subsistence farming and lack tools and technologies for increased productivity as well as off farm skills, and urban poor or migrants often settle in underserved communities which are hazard prone due to lack of affordable housing. Marginalized groups may have limited access to finances which restricts their ability to invest in resilient assets and be better prepared to recover from disaster-related shocks. Women are less likely to own land, which make them more dependent on others' land and vulnerable to post-disaster layoffs.

Climate change will further increase the disaster risk in Myanmar. Records of the past six decades in Myanmar show that the intensity and severity of extreme weather events have increased. Climate models predict more extreme changes in the future: more intense rainfall events, extreme temperatures, and changes in intensity and frequency of tropical cyclones.¹¹ These will have an impact on the lives and livelihoods of Myanmar communities, especially on the poor and most vulnerable.

Community-based disaster risk management (DRM) interventions in Myanmar are typically implemented as "stand-alone" activities, lack in scale, and fail to tackle the underlying causes of disaster risk. These project-based interventions target the most vulnerable and are designed in close consultation with community representatives, village tract, and township authorities. In most cases, they are implemented as stand-alone activities disjointed from regular development processes at the village level. As a result, they face challenges in scaling up and sustainability. Moreover, their scope—strengthening community preparedness and response capacity—is often narrow.

i. D. Guha-Sapir, R. Below, and P. Hoyois. EM-DAT: The CRED/OFDA International Disasters Database. www.emdat. be. Brussels, Belgium: Université catholique de Louvain.

i. The Republic of the Union of Myanmar. 2015. Myanmar's Intended Nationally Determined Contribution. Nay Pyi Taw.

II. **Opportunities**: The evolving process of decentralization, increasing investments in different sectors and themes of development, and the broadening policy landscape for DRM provide opportunities to strengthen disaster resilience of Myanmar communities.

Ongoing governance-related reforms in Myanmar provide a solid base for strengthening disaster resilience in the context of local development. These reforms include people-centered planning, allocation of funds for local priorities, increased decision making at the local level for development and delivery of services, and strengthened vertical linkages between different tiers of administration.

Entry points for strengthening disaster resilience at the community level in Myanmar can be found in different sectors and themes. Depending on the characteristics of the community, such as socioeconomic profile and disaster risk context, and the broader mandate of sectors and themes, the entry points vary and may change and evolve over the time. Some immediate entry points:

- Rural livelihoods and village infrastructure. The bottom-up village development planning
 process, community-driven development projects, and local development funds targeted at the
 most vulnerable population provide opportunities to empower communities and strengthen their
 resilience in the context of local development.
- Urban development. Opportunities to strengthen disaster resilience of urban communities can be found in inclusive spatial planning processes that encourage communities to participate in identifying disaster and climate risk. Alternatively, in the housing sector, they could raise awareness on safe construction practices and strengthen the capacity of small and micro businesses to manage disaster risk of their assets, stocks, and supply chains.
- **Forestry and environmental conservation**. Forestry programs that engage communities in reforestation activities could demonstrate the protective role of forests as well as offer benefits in the form of sustainable livelihoods.
- **Financial inclusion**. Microfinance institutions with their social mandate to support women, poor, and low-income households provide access to affordable finances for resilience-building measures. Disaster microinsurance products can provide access to post-disaster liquidity, thereby facilitating speedy recovery of communities.
- **Social protection**. Cash transfers and cash-for-work programs can deliver targeted (such as to households headed by women) and immediate support to communities affected by disasters, thereby reducing their impact and contributing to overall community resilience.

The DRM policy landscape in Myanmar provides the building blocks for strengthening community disaster resilience. DRM in Myanmar has evolved over the last few years supported by legislation, implementing rules, action planning, funding mechanisms, institutional setup, capacity building, and volunteer networks.

III. Actions: Strengthening disaster resilience of Myanmar communities requires a suite of actions, many of which the communities need to undertake in partnership with civil society organizations and village tract or ward administration, others by higher levels of the government, and some with support from development partners.

1. Actions for government at the township, state or region, and union level:

- i. Strengthen linkages between development planning and budgeting and DRM planning at the township, state or region, and union level (e.g., development of guidelines and capacity for integrating disaster risk considerations in the village development planning process).
- ii. Support technical agencies in generating and disseminating disaster risk information.
- iii. Strengthen the capacity of the members of various township authorities and union line ministries present at the township to undertake risk-informed decision making.
- iv. Ensure sector investments targeted at the community level factor disaster risk considerations (e.g., community forestry, social protection programs, etc.).

2. Actions for village tract or ward administration:

- i. Ensure the village DRM planning process (as required by the Natural Disaster Management Law, 2013) adopts participatory techniques to identify the disaster risk-related needs of various interest groups (e.g., poorer households, vulnerable population, marginalized groups, local private sector).
- ii. Strengthen the linkages between village development planning and village DRM planning processes.
- iii. Ensure that the disaster resilience needs are captured in the village development plan and funded through local development funds, sector programs, or projects of civil society organizations and address the underlying risk factors.
- iv. Advocate for village resilience-building measures at the township level.



- i. Support communities through participatory processes in identifying disaster risk.
- ii. Ensure disaster risk information is factored in the design and implementation of projects.
- iii. Provide capacity building for communities in implementing resilient building measures (e.g., safer housing, resilient livelihoods, ecosystem management, disaster preparedness).
- iv. Encourage communities to identify, prioritize, and invest in resilient building measures at the household and community level through the village development planning process, government programs in different sectors, local development funds, microfinance, etc.
- v. Ensure the needs of the poorer households, most vulnerable, and marginalized population are captured in resilience-building measures supported by the government and development partners.
- vi. Document the outcomes of community-led initiatives and share them with all stakeholders in order to develop stronger evidence on the benefits derived by investing in community disaster resilience.

4. Actions for communities:

- i. Identify the natural hazards prevalent in the area; the households, assets, and livelihoods that are exposed to the hazards, and the physical and socioeconomic vulnerability in the society.
- ii. Factor hazard and forecast information in decision-making processes to ensure personal and community assets and livelihoods are designed to higher standards of resilience.
- iii. Identify household- and community-level investments to reduce disaster risk.
- iv. Strengthen disaster preparedness measures at the household and village level.
- v. Strengthen disaster youth volunteer capacity on DRM, including dissemination of early warning, search, and rescue.
- vi. Engage with village tract or ward administration, local civil society organization, and microfinance organizations to access resources (financial and human) for investing in resilience.

5. Actions for development partners:

- i. Support the development of disaster risk information.
- ii. Support long-term capacity building and peer-to-peer learning among communities, local authorities, and community-based organizations.
- iii. Provide technical assistance in identifying legal and regulatory gaps preventing the uptake of disaster-resilient measures (such as regulatory gaps in microfinance).
- iv. Ensure projects (e.g., loans, grants, technical assistance) targeted at the community level factor in disaster risk considerations.
- v. Support piloting of innovative products and approaches for strengthening disaster resilience at the community level.



SECTION 1 CONTEXT

11 DISASTER RISK IN MYANMAR: A DYNAMIC INTERACTION BETWEEN NATURAL HAZARDS, EXPOSURE AND VULNERABILITIES

Myanmar experiences significant disasterrelated losses, affecting communities and the local and national economy. Between 1980 and 2015, disasters in Myanmar caused about 140,000 deaths, affected the lives and livelihoods of more than 5 million people, and resulted in approximately \$5 billion in direct physical losses.¹ Modeling analysis indicates that Myanmar experiences an average annual loss from disasters of \$2.1 billion over the long term, equivalent to 3.23% of the country's 2014 gross domestic product (GDP).²

These disasters are triggered by a wide range of **natural hazards**, which vary across the country depending on location, topography, geology and climate. The people living in the coastal regions, especially the western coasts and increasingly the southern coasts of the country too, are exposed to tropical cyclones and storm surges; major parts of the country are at risk from earthquakes, riverine flooding (the causes of which differ depending on location), and landslides; and those living in the central dry zone, which receives very little rainfall and over the years has undergone large-scale deforestation, face droughts.

The impact of disasters derives from both major large-scale events, such as Cyclone Nargis in 2008, and the 2015 floods and landslides; and the accumulated effects from many localized smallscale events, such as flash floods and landslides. While the impacts of the large-scale events are usually visible across sectors and attract attention, the impacts of the small-scale events are typically confined to a community or specific geographical area, and thus remain largely invisible, as the effects can have a longer-term detrimental impact on the poorer households, smaller businesses, and marginalized members of a community.

In general terms, women, children, the elderly, people with disabilities, migrants, and marginalized groups are likely to be more vulnerable and exposed to natural hazards because of their socioeconomic conditions. Some of the factors that lead women in Myanmar, for example, to be more vulnerable to natural hazards are described in Box 1.

High **poverty levels** leave the population at risk. Nearly 85% of Myanmar's poor live in rural areas, especially the central dry zone and in the Ayeyarwaddy Delta. Here small-scale farmers must endure labor-intensive farming techniques and limited access to credit that can hinder their ability to diversify crops. This leaves them exposed to higher levels of risk if the crop fails due to floods and drought. Similarly, people on the fringes of society—the marginalized and excluded—are

D. Guha-Sapir, R. Below, and P. Hoyois. EM-DAT: The CRED/OFDA International Disasters Database. www.emdat.be. Brussels, Belgium: Université catholique de Louvain.

² United Nations. 2015. Global Assessment Report on Disaster Risk Reduction.

CONTEXT



© ADB

more likely to be poor and lacking in the means to build up a "cushion" to withstand shocks (such as disasters) on their already challenging circumstances. They are likely to lack social connectivity, a resilient livelihood, and access to beneficial services that would all help them weather harder times and make progress. Lack of access to early warning and formal social protection also leave them more vulnerable.

Inadequate development is a breeding ground for disaster risk. For example, lack of agricultural inputs, access to finance and technology, irrigation, and rural roads undermines agricultural earnings with consequences for people's increased vulnerability. For instance, currently, 40% of Myanmar's population lives in villages without access to an all-season road. This isolation means limited access to markets and also low access to health care (including reproductive and maternal health services), education services, and alternative employment opportunities. In a postdisaster situation, reaching affected communities with aid will be a challenge. Similarly, poor access to financial services fosters a context of perpetual hardship and vulnerability, as it impairs the ability to invest in disaster risk reduction measures and manage unexpected events. In rural areas, a

BOX 1. WOMEN'S HEIGHTENED VULNERABILITY TO NATURAL HAZARDS IN MYANMAR

Factors influencing women's heightened vulnerability to natural hazards:

- In rural areas, despite their contribution to agriculture, women are often viewed as laborers rather than farmers and are often paid less than men for the same work. With less income, women are less able to build up sustainable livelihoods, savings, and assets that can help build resilience to disaster.
- Women have less opportunity to own land, which leaves them in a more precarious position of dependency – women that work on others' land are limited in their income and corresponding capacity to invest in risk reduction measures and are vulnerable to post-disaster layoffs.
- Women have limited access to credit, which restricts the availability of options that could help them sustain their livelihoods despite shocks and day-to-day stresses.
- Women are likely to spend much more time than men on care work, limiting their productive time and mobility, which impinges upon income with implications for resilience.
- Most households headed by poor women do not own a phone, and many women do not know how to use phones as these are owned by their husbands. This lack of easily available access to information undermines decision making on a day-to-day basis, and renders women less connected with early warning system and therefore less aware of pending crises.
- Women-headed households tend to have less sturdy houses because they are likely to be poorer. This increases the likelihood of damage such as in a flood or cyclone.
- Women are less aware of their rights and have less representation in leadership and decision making. This means that the female perspective on what it takes to be resilient and its potential benefits are underrepresented.



significant proportion of the population has no access to formal financial services and insurance. They must rely on informal loans, with very high interest rates, which leads to indebtedness, cycles of poverty, and thus chronic vulnerability to disasters.

Improper development leaves communities at risk by increasing their exposure and vulnerability to natural hazards. For example, unplanned growth of cities leads to poor land use, unsafe housing and infrastructure, and growth of informal settlements. Urban areas, especially informal settlements that are already unsafe and burdened with poor water supply, intermittent electricity supply, and lack of a functioning drainage network or sewerage system, can be especially hard hit when conditions deteriorate on account of a flood, earthquake, fire, or other hazards. So too, improper usage of defensive infrastructure can unwittingly increase disaster risk. For example, stability of dikes can be undermined due to planting of trees and vegetation, building of concrete stairs, and carrying out of other public activities.

The potential impacts of **climatic change** in Myanmar—increase in temperature, changes in total rainfall (increase in some regions and decrease in others), decrease in the duration of the southwest monsoon season as a result of late onset, and increase in the recurrence and severity of extreme weather events such as floods, cyclones, and droughts—will further increase disaster risk.³ Those that already struggle the most with today's weather-related challenges are first to be faced with even harder climaterelated challenges as risks associated with climate variability and extreme events continue to ramp up.

Further, climate change will further intensify disaster risk across a range of sectors. For example, agriculture largely depends on weather conditions for food production. Other examples include water resources, especially in the dry zone, which are already experiencing shortages and increasing

³

Government of Myanmar. 2015. Myanmar's Intended Nationally Determined Contribution. Nay Pyi Taw.

rates of groundwater withdrawals; public health due to water-related diseases and heat stressrelated risks; forestry due to destruction by tropical cyclones, strong winds, and floods in addition to human pressure; and coastal systems facing rising sea surface temperatures leading to increases in cyclone intensity and associated strong winds and high storm surges, and decreased fisheries production.⁴

Thus, the combination of natural hazards, preexisting vulnerabilities, poverty, improper development, and climate change increase disaster risk in Myanmar as illustrated in Figure 1.

Moreover, the impact of such disasters can result in the perpetuation of poverty and development challenges as seen in the examples in Box 2.

However, since the root causes of a community's disaster risk are interconnected in a complex web of development-related factors as described above, many **sectors** (e.g., *agriculture, rural development, forestry,* and *urban development* etc.) and **themes** of development (e.g., *financial inclusion, social protection,* etc.) can help overcome these vulnerabilities and thereby reduce disaster risk.

BOX 2. LONG-LASTING LOCAL IMPACTS OF DISASTERS

Cyclone Nargis' Long-Lasting Impact

Saltwater intrusion from Cyclone Nargis in 2008 and the loss of agricultural inputs (e.g., animals, equipment, and seeds) resulted in a significant decrease in crop yields. Similarly, loss of fishing equipment (e.g., boats and fishing nets) reduced the capabilities in the fishing sector. These affected the farmers and fisherfolk by decreasing their income, which in turn prevented them from repaying old loans; some even had to borrow again to sustain their basic needs. Furthermore, the decline in agricultural production also decreased the opportunities for other landless laborers, thus leading to more people without stable income sources. Studies show that 5 years after Cyclone Nargis, farming had fully recovered in only 25% of villages.

Source: World Bank. 2014. Another Nargis Strikes Every Day: Post Nargis Social Impacts Monitoring Five Years On. Washington, DC.

Long-Term Recovery Needs after the 2015 Floods and Landslides

The expected crop production in the flood-affected region of Ayeyarwaddy is estimated to decrease by 63%. This will have a direct impact on the income of farmers and workers. In addition to the immediate risk to food security, lower household incomes will lower access to agricultural inputs (mainly seeds and fertilizers) necessary for subsequent agricultural seasons. To cope with the income losses, people are borrowing food and seeds from local markets or taking out loans with high interest rates from moneylenders. Farmers also lack the cash to hire laborers for weeding and other preparatory activities, which is likely to hamper future productivity.

Source: Government of Myanmar. 2015. Post Disaster Needs Assessment of Floods and Landslides. Nay Pyi Taw.

⁴ Government of Myanmar. 2012. Myanmar's Initial Communication under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Nay Pyi Taw.

1.2. NEED FOR COMMUNITY-BASED APPROACHES TO STRENGTHEN DISASTER RESILIENCE

Disaster risk is largely shaped and the impacts felt the most at the local level. Thus, the solutions to address the risks should also be localized and involve the communities that live and work in the area. This is important for various reasons:

- First, natural hazards and exposure, two of the three components of disaster risk, are inherently spatial phenomena. They originate in a particular location and affect a defined location. Thus, there is need for **local knowledge in identifying the hazards**—their historical patterns and observed changes and in assessing the exposure of people, their assets, and livelihoods.
- Second, different communities and different people within each community perceive disaster risk differently and play different roles in shaping risk. Hence, the importance of engaging communities in identifying risks and selecting local interventions to reduce risk.
- Third, with the uncertainties associated with climate risks, especially the change in magnitude and intensity and with the pace

and nature of future economic and social development, ideal risk reduction approaches are those that reflect and **manage** uncertainty. Likewise, with the root causes of disaster risk being inextricably intertwined with socioeconomic conditions, ideal risk reduction solutions at the community level will be those that **bring wider development gains** in the immediate term and that are flexible enough to accommodate possible changes in hazard intensity and frequency.

 Fourth, it is necessary to incentivize disaster risk reduction investments at the local level because they do not, of themselves, typically generate immediate and direct streams of positive benefits.

It follows that in order to manage disaster risk in the face of a changing climate, the more the efforts are community-based and bundled with local development priorities, the more beneficial they are likely to be and capable of achieving multiple gains: poverty reduction, socioeconomic development, climate change adaptation, and disaster risk reduction. Myanmar is on a course of major social and economic reform aimed at decentralization, increasing openness, empowerment, and inclusion; creating jobs; and improving the wellbeing of its population, particularly living in rural areas. Such reforms will bring in physical and social investments across sectors and themes of development, which, if implemented without due consideration of disaster risk, may fail to achieve their intended outcome, and in some cases may increase existing vulnerabilities.

Recognizing these threats, Myanmar has set a path that complements an agenda for strengthening community disaster resilience. This includes a pledge made by the government in its **2015 Election Manifesto** to "defend against the dangers arising from natural disasters such as storms, floods and drought, and provide education regarding risk mitigation and protection."

The Natural Disaster Management Law, 2013 (Law No. 21/2013) recognizes disaster risk reduction as an underlying requirement for achieving sustainable development; calls for integrating disaster risk considerations in development processes; establishes the government-led institutional setup at all levels of administration; and requires close coordination between government, civil society groups, other non-government organizations (NGOs), and international and regional organizations in carrying out DRM activities.⁵

Specifically, with respect to community-level actions to reduce disaster risk, the **Myanmar Action Plan on Disaster Risk Reduction**, a road map for the implementation of disaster risk reduction priorities, has attached high priority to community-based disaster preparedness and risk reduction. Among others, the action plan identifies the need for strengthening the policy environment, scaling up implementation through local development, promoting volunteerism, and establishing financing mechanisms for community-level disaster risk reduction measures.⁶

So too, the policy and legislative environment across key sectors and themes of development supports the wider objectives of community disaster resilience. The support ranges from proposing risk-sensitive development approaches that are community led to those targeted at the most vulnerable in the community, and further to those keen to have local community insights inform decision-making processes. Examples include

⁵ The Republic of the Union of Myanmar. 2013. Natural Disaster Management Law. Nay Pyi Taw.

⁶ The Republic of the Union of Myanmar. 2012. Myanmar Action Plan on Disaster Risk Reduction. Nay Pyi Taw.

- the Ward or Village Tract Administration Law, 2012;
- the Environmental Conservation Law, 2012;
- the Rural Development Strategic Framework, 2014;
- the National Social Protection Strategic Plan, 2014;
- the Myanmar Financial Inclusion Roadmap 2014–2020; and
- the National Strategic Plan for the Advancement of Women 2013-2022

In addition, Myanmar is party to many relevant regional and international agreements that endorse the broad principles for community disaster resilience. Among these of special significance are the **Sustainable Development Goals** which identify disaster risk reduction targets for four goals;^{7,8} the **Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015–2030** which prioritizes strengthening the resilience of communities and the need to work in partnership with civil society, community-based organizations, and volunteer organizations;⁹ the **Paris Agreement** adopted at the 21st Session of the Conference of the Parties which recognizes the need to strengthen community resilience and undertake climate change adaptation options that take into consideration vulnerable groups, communities, and ecosystems;¹⁰ and the **Association of Southeast Asian Nations** (ASEAN) Agreement on Disaster Management and Emergency Response which calls for the involvement of local communities, NGOs, and private enterprises in disaster risk reduction activities (Figure 2).¹¹

This National Framework for Community Disaster Resilience is guided by such commitments.

.

10 United Nations. 2015. The Paris Agreement. Paris.

.

11 ASEAN. 2009. ASEAN Agreement on Disaster Management and Emergency Response. Vientiane.

⁷ The four goals include Goal 1: End poverty in all its forms everywhere; Goal 2: End hunger, achieve food security and improved nutrition, and promote sustainable agriculture; Goal 11: Make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable; and Goal 13: Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts.

⁸ United Nations. 2015. Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. New York.

⁹ United Nations. 2015. Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction. Sendai.

FIGURE 2. DEVELOPMENT COMMITMENTS IN SUPPORT OF COMMUNITY DISASTER RESILIENCE

"Building resilience of the poor and those in vulnerable situations and to reduce their exposure and vulnerability to climate-related extreme events"

> SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS, 2015-2030

"States should encourage...civil society, volunteers, organized voluntary work organizations and community-based organizations to: participate, in collaboration with public institutions, in disaster risk reduction ... and advocate for resilient communities"

SENDAI FRAMEWORK FOR DISASTER RISK REDUCTION. 2015-2030 "Climate change adaptation options to take into consideration vulnerable groups, communities and ecosystems"

> PARIS AGREEMENT ON **CLIMATE CHANGE**

"Addressing disaster risks, shall involve participation of local communities"

ASEAN AGREEMENT ON DISASTER MANAGEMENT AND EMERGENCY RESPONSE

Regional and International Commitments National Development Strategy

"Well-being of population Defend against disasters and provide education on risk mitigation"

ELECTION MANIFESTO, NATIONAL LEAGUE FOR DEMOCRACY, 2015

"People-centered development through community-driven, participatory approaches'

FRAMEWORK FOR ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL REFORMS, 2013

National Legislation

"Disaster risk reduction is an underlying principle of sustainable development"

NATIONAL DISASTER MANAGEMENT LAW, 2013 (LAW NO. 21/2013)

Village Tract Administrators/Ward Administrators are elected representatives

WARD OR VILLAGE TRACT ADMINISTRATION LAW, 2012

"Mainstreaming environmental issues into national policies, planning and development processes.... guidance relating to conservation of the coastal environment, adaptation to climate change, combating desertification"

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION LAW, 2012

Policy Frameworks

Mission - includes mitigate of natural and social disasters and creation of resilient communities

RURAL DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK, 2014

Objectives - include to create a more resilient environment and increase local capacity to withstand, and more swiftly recover from, shocks and potential disasters

NATIONAL SOCIAL PROTECTION STRATEGIC PLAN, 2014

"Strengthen the financial sector's capacity to better support financial inclusion and improve financial inclusion within the priority sectors: agriculture micro, small, and medium enterprises (MSMEs), and lowincome adults in mostly rural settings"

MYANMAR FINANCIAL INCLUSION ROADMAP, 2015

" Prioritizes role of women in emergencies"

NATIONAL STRATEGIC PLAN FOR THE ADVANCEMENT OF WOMEN, 2013-2022

Community-based disaster risk reduction is a priority

> MYANMAR ACTION PLAN ON DISASTER RISK REDUCTION (MAPDRR), 2009-2015

SECTION 2 COMMUNITY DISASTER RESILIENCE FRAMEWORK 61/200

er My

C' 🕾

or 第

ADPO

F

2.1. **OBJECTIVES**

Disaster risk is shaped and experienced at the community level in a myriad of different ways due to the ever-changing interaction of social, economic, and environmental conditions. Climate change will further change the risk profile. With this perspective, the objectives of the National Framework for Community Disaster Resilience (henceforth National Framework) presented in this document are to do the following:

- Promote a common understanding among stakeholders (e.g., government, development partners, civil society organizations, community-based organizations, and the private sector) on the desired outcome of strengthening disaster resilience of the communities in Myanmar.
- Propose coherent approaches and lessons for pursuing disaster resilience at the community level.
- Identify potential opportunities for implementing measures across different sectors and themes of development that will strengthen disaster resilience at the community level in an integrated and inclusive manner.

2.2. PROMOTING A COMMON UNDERSTANDING

First, it is important to understand what is meant by **community**.

The term "community" in the context of the National Framework refers to people (i) who live in a defined geographical area (e.g., a village or village tract); (ii) who share a common culture, values, and norms and who are arranged according to a social structure that has evolved over time (e.g., displaced rural laborers now living in a city); and/or (iii) who are potentially exposed to a shared hazard event (e.g., riverine flooding along a particular river network).¹² The definition acknowledges how gender, ethnicity, age, class, and other power structures influence what "community" means and how this may influence disaster risk and its management.

Second, what is meant by **community disaster** resilience?

With disaster risk being intrinsic in development decisions; and with the changing hazard patterns due to climate change, the management of disaster risk requires communities in Myanmar and elsewhere to adopt a comprehensive, dynamic, and aspirational approach that goes beyond preparing for a disaster event. A change in mind-set is required from managing disasters to managing disaster risk under high levels of uncertainty. Communities will need to understand risk (and how it is changing) in relation to social, economic, and environmental aspects of people's lives and livelihoods. They will also have to take actions to reduce risks within the larger context of local development priorities and to strengthen systems to manage the residual risk, thereby strengthening overall resilience.

For example, a disaster-resilient community will be¹³

- accurately informed about the natural hazard environment (e.g., location, change in intensity and frequency of hazards, etc.) and disaster risk (e.g., vulnerability and exposure of people and assets to natural hazards), and able to factor such disaster risk information into day-to-day decision-making processes;
- protected from disaster-related losses through a comprehensive suite of measures nonstructural (e.g., effective leadership, good land use planning, skills training, social cohesion, suitable institutional mechanisms, access to credit, and diversified and healthy livelihoods) and structural (e.g., engineered

¹² Inspired by International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies (IFRC). 2014. IFRC Framework for Community Resilience. Geneva.

^{.....}

¹³ Influenced in particular by indicators of resilience in Ove Arup & Partners International Limited. 2014. *City Resilience Index: City Resilience Framework*. London.

and natural defenses, resilient infrastructure, homes, and communication technology);

- able to withstand the impact of disasters by drawing on timely support of community members, emergency services, and the health care system, and the deployment of contingencies such as savings, emergency funds and goods; and
- quickly able to reestablish conditions for their livelihoods and other functions to flourish because of the continuity of services, social welfare support, flexible and robust business value chains, and access to financing.

In other words, a **resilient community** will have the ability to resist, absorb, recover from, and reorganize in response to natural hazard events, without jeopardizing their sustained socioeconomic advancement and development.

Achieving such an outcome will require working within the context of local development priorities being addressed by various sectors and themes. Depending on the characteristics of the community—location, type of natural hazards they are exposed to, preexisting socioeconomic vulnerabilities, and capacities—and the broader mandate of the said sector and theme, the scope of interventions to strengthen disaster resilience could focus on reducing risks, managing residual risks, or—most likely—a combination of both.

2.3. PROPOSING A COHERENT APPROACH

Strengthening community disaster resilience that is embedded in development processes across sectors and themes requires following a coherent approach which includes:

- **Community engagement and empowerment** The local communities living and working in hazard-prone areas often possess a significant understanding of disaster risk and related management capacities with regard to their lives and livelihoods. Yet, some risks could be less familiar because they have not been experienced in living memory, such as an earthquake, or because of changes in climate variability and climate change. Empowering the communities is therefore necessary, so that decisions are made in light of the realities faced by the communities and they receive local "buy-in." Furthermore, community empowerment processes have to be mindful and purposeful in handling the capacities and vulnerabilities of different groups. In particular, the implementation of resilience-building measures will be ineffective if they do not address the needs of the most vulnerable (women, children, the elderly, people with disabilities, and marginalized groups) and recognize communities as active agents of change. Community disaster resilience has to be based on community agendas. Otherwise, uptake will be weak and results poor.
- A risk-informed basis for action Without risk-informed decision making, development actions can suffer negative

impacts as a consequence of natural hazards and can inadvertently even generate risks for communities and the country. In Myanmar, this calls for an approach where multihazard disaster risk assessment becomes a systematic feature of all decision making. It also calls for the need to better understand how hazard patterns may change due to climate change and the need to make risk-informed decisions.

Strengthened disaster risk governance Community disaster resilience necessitates a comprehensive set of institutional arrangements across sectors, geared to align with existing local development processes. It requires a shift in the current institutional arrangements, with its large focus on managing disaster events, to an arrangement that manages disaster risks. Such an arrangement requires the participation of all relevant government ministries (e.g., planning, finance, general administration, and sector departments) and all levels (union to villages). Community-based organizations, including women's organizations that represent organized, informed, and experienced communities are also an important part of the risk governance architecture required for strengthening community disaster resilience. They have the skills and understanding to negotiate their community's needs with the local government and to foster innovative and sustained partnerships with local institutions and the private sector.

2.4. IDENTIFYING POTENTIAL OPPORTUNITIES

Within each sector and theme, the opportunities for taking actions that would contribute to strengthening community disaster resilience will differ. They could include a combination of entry points relating to the following:

- Planning processes: ensuring planning processes across sectors and themes and at all levels explicitly recognize how people's vulnerability to natural hazards is generated through local context-specific conditions, and how disaster risk can be alleviated through integrated development that emphasizes people-based and risk-informed processes.
- Funding mechanisms: increasing local development funds aimed at risk-informed community development and wider financial inclusion.
- Investments: ensuring that disaster risk considerations are properly embedded in investment design so that projects and programs alleviate risk while reducing poverty and advancing social and economic growth; and, where needed, stand-alone investments with the primary objective of disaster risk reduction are prioritized.
- Governance related factors targeted at improving people-centered development processes in the country; strengthening

vertical and horizontal coordination; and enhancing capacity.

The National Framework identifies the opportunities that key sectors and themes provide to strengthen community disaster resilience, ensuring local relevance, and places them within the context of existing development priorities of Myanmar. In each of the sectors and themes covered in the framework, there are specific opportunities to strengthen community disaster resilience. Discussions with the relevant government agencies have revealed considerable appetite within these agencies to collaborate with communities to act on these opportunities.

2.4.1. RURAL LIVELIHOODS AND VILLAGE INFRASTRUCTURE

With 85% of the poor living in rural areas, efforts to reduce poverty in Myanmar are closely linked with strengthening rural livelihoods and village infrastructure, such as roads, village footpaths, jetties, ponds, community buildings, etc. However, past experiences have shown that rural livelihoods and infrastructure have been devastated by natural hazard-related disasters, jeopardizing the advances made in socioeconomic development. The potential impacts of climate change are



© UN-Habitat

expected to further impact the physical integrity and functioning of rural infrastructure. The uncertainties associated with climate risk need to be factored in decision making related to weatherdependent rural livelihoods. Furthermore, existing socioeconomic vulnerabilities in rural areas (such as limited access of rural poor to landholdings and inclusive financial services) and genderdifferentiated vulnerability (such as lower likelihood of women owning land compared to men) contribute to disaster risk in rural areas.

Although agriculture is the most important economic sector in Myanmar and the major source of livelihoods for over 70% of the population, the agriculture sector is extremely vulnerable to natural hazards. Floods, drought, and tropical cyclones can result in a loss of crops, farm assets, income, and livelihoods and cause extensive damage to households and community infrastructure. The impact of disasters can have long-lasting effects on rural communities, especially among women and other vulnerable groups. The rural communities not only suffer immediate direct losses, but also struggle to secure access to seeds, tools, and financing as they attempt to recover, thereby affecting the yield of future harvest seasons. Drought can have significant impacts, especially in central Myanmar. Moreover, the potential impacts of climate change will continue to have high impacts on agriculture and food security in Myanmar. This is especially true for the Ayeyarwaddy Delta, the coastal areas,

and the central dry zone, where the majority of population is concentrated.

The Rural Development Strategic Framework, 2014 calls for investments in various "areas": village infrastructure, capital injection, ecological restoration, livelihood assets, and incomegeneration activities. These investments, if designed with disaster risk considerations in mind, can provide opportunities to limit exposure and vulnerability to natural hazards. Through dialogue between the local communities, community-based organizations, the local private sector, and the village tract administrators, the strongest options can emerge for considering disaster resilience while determining rural development-related priorities and designing individual investments across sectors and themes, such as agriculture, livestock, non-farm livelihoods, forestry, water resources management, village infrastructure, financial inclusion, social protection, and so on.

The broader agricultural priorities include, among others, the development of high-yielding and good-quality seeds, strengthening agricultural value chains and food security, capacity building of farmers and extension workers on advanced agricultural techniques, and mechanized agriculture. These provide many opportunities to strengthen resilience of communities to disaster risk. At the same time, Myanmar has made a commitment to the ASEAN to adopt climate-smart agriculture approaches, thereby



© ADB

contributing to regional food security. Examples include promotion of crop varieties that are tolerant to biotic and abiotic stresses, such as high temperature, drought, flood, high salinity content in soil, etc.; promotion of intercropping with climate-ready crops; crop-tree systems; and crop-livestock systems.¹⁴ The priorities to develop a climate-resilient agriculture sector and an early warning system which increases the lead time for receiving weather forecasts, as identified in Myanmar's Intended Nationally Determined Contribution 2015, provide an enabling policy environment to strengthen community disaster resilience through the agriculture sector.

2.4.2. URBAN DEVELOPMENT

The urban population of Myanmar has grown significantly in recent years with 3 out of every 10 people in the country residing in cities.¹⁵ Accordingly, the cities are expanding and becoming concentration points of services, facilities, and other infrastructure such as hospitals, colleges, airports, and ports. However, cities in Myanmar are not without challenges. In most

14 The Republic of the Union of Myanmar. 2015.

cases, urban infrastructure—water and sanitation, drainage, solid waste disposal—is lacking or requires upgrading. Land tenure also remains a crucial concern for the urban population, as there is limited access to affordable housing and housing finance. Furthermore, there is a lack of livelihood opportunities especially for the migrant population. Addressing disaster risk and the potential impacts of climate change will be among the crucial factors influencing whether the urbanization process achieves beneficial outcomes for the country. While the interplay of physical and economic geography has resulted in many of the cities being located in naturally hazard-prone areas, the rapid unplanned growth, expansion, and poor management of urban areas is further increasing the vulnerability and exposure of the population and assets to natural hazards.

Myanmar Climate-Smart Agriculture Strategy. Nay Pyi Taw.

¹⁵ The Republic of the Union of Myanmar. 2014. The 2014 Myanmar Population and Housing Census. Nay Pyi Taw.



© ADB

Myanmar has made advancements in its urban development-related policy environment. It has developed an urban development planning strategy, and the development of a national urban and regional development planning law as well as a national housing law is ongoing. Expected investments in the country's urban sector provide ample opportunities to strengthen processes that could contribute to the enhanced disaster resilience of urban communities. These processes range from wider urban governance, land use planning, design and maintenance of infrastructure and services, a healthy business environment, etc.

2.4.3. ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION AND FORESTRY

Myanmar has an abundant and diverse environment, and natural resources are vital to the country. For example, although declining, Myanmar is rich in natural forests with approximately half of the total land area forested. Forests underpin a range of socioeconomic sectors and local livelihoods. Forests provide a number of other functions as well, such as with respect to water supply, sequestering carbon, regulating micro-climates, protecting top soils from rain and sun, stabilizing soils, and providing habitats for globally important animal and plant species. One of the key services provided by a healthy forest is the reduction of disaster risk by acting as a natural defense and supporting local livelihoods. However, despite multiple long-term development benefits, the short-term economic pressures on freely available forest resources have in many cases led to encroachment from agriculture, industry and settlements, illicit logging and excessive use of fuelwood, thereby increasing disaster risk.

The evolving policy landscape of environmental conservation and forestry offers many benefits with respect to the disaster resilience of communities. This goes much further than the direct "buffering" of communities from natural hazard events by



```
© ADB
```

encompassing efforts that support sustainable development. In fact, the crosscutting actions that form the basis for the implementation of the Environmental Conservation Law, 2012 strengthening environmental services; enhancing public participation; and mainstreaming environmental considerations in forestry, hydropower, agriculture, tourism, etc.—all contribute to reducing disaster risk.

2.4.4. FINANCIAL INCLUSION

Comprising affordable credit, savings, insurance, and fund transfer services, financial inclusion seeks to ensure households, especially within poor, low-income, and marginalized sectors, have responsible, ready, and affordable access to financial products. However, with only a minority of rural inhabitants in Myanmar currently having access to formal credit and no other formal financial products available, there are fewer chances for the at-risk communities to invest in disaster resiliencebuilding measures. The vulnerable population (e.g., the landless, youth, daily laborers, and women) continue to face constraints in accessing credit, thereby further increasing their vulnerability to disasters. Moreover, a significant proportion of the rural population relies on informal loans, which further adds to their vulnerability through indebtedness and deepened financial insecurity to service burdensome payments with excessive

interest rates. Moreover, in a post-disaster context, demand for financial services is likely to significantly increase due to the immediate need for a monetary stimulus to spur livelihood and shelter recovery. Unfortunately, as the most impacted will be the poor and vulnerable population with least access to financial services, not only are they left more at-risk to experience loss, but their recovery from loss becomes harder. Lack of access to disaster risk insurance further aggravates the time required to recover from the impact of disasters.

Recognizing these gaps, financial inclusion is becoming an important focus for Myanmar as it seeks to alleviate poverty by, for example, expanding the reach of microcredit, savings, and credit cooperatives. The Myanmar Financial Inclusion Roadmap 2015-2020 has adopted integrated objectives: to strengthen the finance sector's capacity to better support financial inclusion while reducing market barriers and to improve financial inclusion within the government priority sectors. These are agriculture, fisheries and livestock; micro, small, and medium-sized enterprises; and lowincome adults in mostly rural settings. In addition, Myanmar is now strengthening the regulatory frameworks for the banking and microfinance sectors. The government is also implementing legislation to expand the insurance and mobile telecommunications industries to the private sector, leading to the emergence of an insurance



© UN-Habitat

industry. It is also developing a mobile banking network for payments and remittances. These developments provide the enabling environment for strengthening community disaster resilience from a financial perspective.

2.4.5. SOCIAL PROTECTION

The poverty rate in Myanmar is between 25% and 38%, with nearly 70% of the population living near the \$2 per day poverty line. These people face serious challenges in accessing even the most basic and essential services. Public investments in social protection can contribute significantly to poverty reduction and create the conditions to reduce inequalities and foster human development, in particular benefiting the most vulnerable and marginalized groups. Currently, the majority of the poor and vulnerable in Myanmar rely heavily on informal coping mechanisms and ad hoc assistance. This situation is seriously aggravated in a disaster context, as disasters affect the poor and vulnerable the most. For example, those already in need of social protection are vulnerable to natural hazards because these

- affect their livelihoods by reducing or eliminating income sources;
- limit access to nutrition and water to sustain their well-being;
- increase migration (e.g., as a result of drought), which affects income;
- lead to a loss of time, energy, and savings, which are temporarily channeled to reconstruction efforts instead of restoring livelihoods;
- force people into adopting negative coping mechanisms such as the sale of household and productive assets, taking out high interest loans, consuming less nutritious food, and taking children out of school; and
- increase risks to women and children as they are more susceptible to abuse, violence, and exploitation.

Social protection programs (e.g., regular cash transfers, school feeding programs, public works programs, and integrated social protection services), as identified by the Social Protection Strategic Plan of 2014, can provide much needed support to the most poor and vulnerable in Myanmar and, when approached with a full comprehension of the risk context, can simultaneously help build people's resilience against disasters.

2.4.6. DISASTER RISK MANAGEMENT

In Myanmar, disasters can be triggered by different types of hazards, from slowly deepening impacts of drought (seasonal) and fast-approaching impacts of cyclones (timescale of a few days) to sudden onset impacts of an earthquake (immediate). How these hazards are likely to affect communities varies considerably depending on the preexisting conditions of vulnerability in the community. Thus, DRM has to be capable of reducing loss of life and minimizing economic loss amid a challenging and diverse context of risk as it is determined by different communities. Additionally, for outcomes to be beneficial and sustainable, DRM has to achieve resonance and traction within everyday development processes and decision making.

Over the years, the government has taken concrete steps to strengthen systems for DRM, such as formulating the Natural Disaster Management Law, 2013 and its implementing rules, strengthening institutions from the union to village level, strengthening the capacity for DRM planning and early warning systems, and forming the Disaster Risk Youth Volunteers trained in disaster response (including first-aid skills). Many areas of opportunity exist to further strengthen DRM in Myanmar in ways that contribute strongly to community-level disaster resilience.



© RRD/UNDP

Collectively, it is clear that strengthening community disaster resilience requires a common understanding on the need to manage disaster risk. It relies on a coherent approach of community empowerment, risk informed decision-making, and risk governance. Also, it can be advanced through the opportunities available in various sectors and themes of development. Such an approach will contribute to the "characteristics" of what disaster resilience risk would look like in the context of communities in Myanmar (Figure 3).
FIGURE 3. STRENGTHENING DISASTER RESILIENCE IN MYANMAR THROUGH SECTORS AND THEMES



Willage-ward Disaster Management Plans are prepared and regularly updated Source: The characteristics of resilient communities are taken from Building Resilience and Adaptation to Climate Extremes and Disasters (BRACED) Myanmar Alliance. 2015. Community Resilience Assessment and Action Handbook. Yangon, Myanmar: Plan International, Myanmar.



SECTION 3

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE COMMUNITY DISASTER RESILIENCE FRAMEWORK

3.1. ACHIEVING COMMUNITY DISASTER RESILIENCE OUTCOMES THROUGH SECTOR INTERVENTIONS

Key sectors such as agriculture and rural development, urban development, and forestry provide opportunities to scale up implementation of disaster resilience measures at the community level. Such opportunities include development processes and sector investments that allow community involvement in identifying disaster risk, prioritizing risk reduction investments, and implementing and maintaining assets, thereby contributing to strengthened disaster resilience. In some cases, such opportunities can also support managing residual disaster risk, through improved capacity for disaster preparedness and early warning systems. A coherent approach is required to realize each of these opportunities, focused around community empowerment, risk-informed basis for action, and disaster risk governance (see section 2.3).

3.1.1. STRENGTHENING COMMUNITY DISASTER RESILIENCE THROUGH RURAL LIVELIHOODS AND VILLAGE INFRASTRUCTURE

The opportunities for strengthening community disaster resilience through rural livelihoods and village infrastructure rest within a combination of processes that aim to strengthen village development planning, investment programs that include community-driven and/or communitybased approaches for village infrastructure, local development funds targeted at poverty reduction and strengthening livelihoods and food security in rural areas, and capacity building.

PROMOTE INCLUSIVE AND RISK-SENSITIVE VILLAGE DEVELOPMENT PLANNING PROCESSES

The bottom-up village development planning process being pursued by the Department of Rural Development, Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock and Irrigation allows villagers to identify their needs and articulate their development "vision" through a village development plan. It also provides grant support to implement one or more priorities identified in the plan.

Step-by-step guidance is provided to the village for formulating the village development plan. The participatory rural appraisal techniques adopted for the plan formulation process provide opportunities for the villagers to discuss issues related to disaster and climate risk in the context of wider barriers and challenges for village development and to identify development strategies and programs and projects that would strengthen disaster resilience.



© UNICEF

The village development planning process involves dialogue among the communities, village development committees, the village tract administrators, and the village tract development support committee members. This process offers strong opportunities to identify disaster and climate risk (this information can be obtained from the disaster risk assessments which is required to be undertaken for the formulation of the Village Tract and Township Disaster Management Plan, see section 3.2.3) and consider how village plans can be developed accordingly. The process does not necessarily mean that a stand-alone disaster risk reduction project will be devised, but it helps improve understanding of how disaster risk may impact local development priorities and can lead to the identification of DRM strategies that have multiple benefits across sectors, and establish better linkages with village tract disaster management plans. Different dimensions of risk as perceived by different population groups and indigenous knowledge on risk reduction can be captured through the participation of all social groups and income classes in the plan formulation process as well as through the focus group discussions (e.g., farmers' groups, women's groups, elders' groups, landless and off-farm livelihood groups, etc.) held as part of the village planning process.

INTEGRATE DISASTER RESILIENCE CONSIDERATIONS IN COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS

The national government's rural developmentrelated programs that have elements of community participation provide a critical opportunity for scaling up disaster resilience. Typically supporting the needs identified by the communities (e.g., in areas such as village infrastructure, rural livelihoods, including agriculture, fisheries, and livestock), such programs can ensure that the interventions being prioritized and implemented by the communities factor disaster risk considerations into their design, implementation, operation, and maintenance.

The precise opportunity for integrating disaster risk concerns will depend on the scope and depth of community participation in a program. For example, community-driven development programs which operate on principles of local empowerment and demand responsiveness provide great opportunities to adopt participatory processes to identify disaster risk, prioritize investments that could reduce disaster risk, implement risk reduction measures, and carry out operation and maintenance through the life of the investment.

Moreover, since these programs have wider development goals, it allows the communities to bundle risk reduction priorities within various



© ADB

sectors and themes rather than pursue them as stand-alone interventions, thereby increasing their "buy-in" and economic viability. Box 3 describes the opportunities provided by the National Community Driven Development Program of Myanmar to strengthen disaster resilience.

In addition, since such programs are targeted at the poorest communities, which are also among the most vulnerable to disasters, the program design can include contingent components to allow it to act as effective channels for delivering post-disaster response actions and implementing post-disaster recovery in the case of a disaster event. Such contingent provisions could allow (i) the community facilitators of the program to support the local government in undertaking post-disaster needs assessment, (ii) the financial management systems to download financial resources to the affected communities, (iii) the waiving of counterpart contributions from the local government and communities, and (iv) the simplification of procedures and modification of criteria for selecting projects at the community level in order to meet the post-disaster priority needs.

BOX 3. DISASTER RESILIENCE AND NATIONAL COMMUNITY DRIVEN DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM

The Department of Rural Development, Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock, Irrigation is implementing the National Community Driven Development Program (2012–2021) with financial assistance from the World Bank. The program's objective is to empower the communities to identify small-scale infrastructure and services (e.g., school buildings, health centers, water supplies, and roads, footpaths, jetties, and bridges) and provide communitybased block grants to implement such priority infrastructure and services. The program includes a contingency that allows rapid reallocation of grant proceeds from other components in order to provide rapid response-related support in the event of an emergency.

The program design, which includes the process of targeting beneficiaries, participatory situation analysis, construction design standards, cost-benefit analysis, capacity building, and village orientation, could factor in hazard considerations. It could also raise awareness of the communities and local officials on the importance of risk-sensitive decision making and how it could impact the prioritization of infrastructure and services. Furthermore, it can adopt hazard-resilient construction standards for community infrastructure being supported under the program and undertake capacity building on community disaster preparedness and response. Likewise, the contingency component of the program which allows it to play an important function in the aftermath of a disaster could further contribute to strengthening disaster resilience by strengthening linkages with social protection programs and applying "building back better" principles in the reconstruction of a community.

BOLSTER THE DESIGN PROCESSES FOR LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FUNDS TO PRIORITIZE RESILIENT INVESTMENTS

Another opportunity for strengthening community disaster resilience is through the various local development funds which aim at supporting the construction and maintenance of small-scale infrastructure and development projects identified by the communities, supporting areas such as agriculture land development, communications, health, and education, each of which can contribute to strengthening community resilience.

The success in achieving the overall purpose of local development funds and funding mechanisms depends in part on the level of community participation (including all sections of population, especially women and most vulnerable) in identifying needs and prioritizing investments. The fund management process, including the guidance for identification and prioritization of community needs, should be improved to ensure disaster risk considerations are factored. Similar to community development programs, this will allow communities to better understand and address disaster risk as an integral development issue.

Some local funding mechanisms provide loans to individuals and help support the establishment of revolving funds at the village level, primarily for livelihoods-related activities. The due diligence conducted as part of the loan approval should scrutinize the risk reduction aspects of the proposal.

HELP RURAL COMMUNITIES WEATHER SHOCKS AND STRESSES BY STRENGTHENING LINKAGES WITH SOCIAL PROTECTION AND FINANCIAL SERVICES

Rural livelihoods, especially farm-based livelihoods, are increasingly challenged with recurring risks associated with extreme weather events. Many of the small farmers are particularly vulnerable due to low profitability and need to rely on credit to finance inputs for the next agricultural planting. Following disasters, often highly localized in nature, many farmers are left with heavy debt burdens and face a challenging situation to cope and recover their livelihoods. Cash-for-work and food-for-work programs can potentially provide temporary employment to contribute to household recovery while effectively reconstructing community assets (see section 3.2.2). More so, insurance can become an important safety net for communities affected by disasters. The recent developments in crop insurance products and legislation should be further strengthened and should serve as an example to stimulate development of other propoor insurance products (see section 3.2.1)

Thus, with strong elements of community empowerment, village development planning processes, community development programs, local development funds, and social protection and financial services provide opportunities for the communities to better understand their disaster risks and prioritize structural and nonstructural interventions as part of rural livelihoods, food security, and village infrastructure development processes. However, with various departments of the government managing these processes, programs, and funds, these opportunities for strengthening disaster resilience require close interdepartmental coordination. So too, there is an urgent need to coordinate with departments that are responsible for large-scale infrastructure critical for DRM, such as the Department of Irrigation which is responsible for the development and maintenance of dike systems.

3.1.2. STRENGTHENING COMMUNITY DISASTER RESILIENCE THROUGH URBAN DEVELOPMENT

Unlike rural development, which provides opportunities for strengthening community disaster resilience through specific programmatic and funding-related interventions, opportunities for strengthening the resilience of urban communities can be found in the wider processes of urban governance, much of which is at a nascent stage in Myanmar.

INVEST IN COMMUNITY CONSULTATION AS PART OF URBAN (SPATIAL) PLANNING PROCESSES THAT PROPERLY ACCOUNT FOR DISASTER RISK

Involving urban communities, including informal settlers, migrants, resettled communities, marginalized ethnic groups, women and children, the elderly, people with disabilities, and other members of the informal economy to identify hazard patterns and current risks, and engaging them in a discussion on future risk as part of urban planning processes will improve understanding of the local disaster risk landscape. Accordingly, this can help prioritize and influence public and private investments that derive economic benefits while reducing risk. Such an understanding can be part of a larger community consultation, public hearing, and city visioning process undertaken, for example, during the land use (spatial) planning process. Moreover, when engaged in participatory planning, these communities can also feel and exercise ownership of the plans and resulting investments. They will thus be better partners in the implementation, operation, and maintenance of subsequent processes (e.g., ensuring clean and



© UN-Habitat

well-maintained drains and waterways, proper disposal of solid waste, etc.).

PROMOTE SAFE LOCATION AND CONSTRUCTION IN THE HOUSING SECTOR

With the increase in urban population, the urban housing market is expected to grow in Myanmar. Homeowners will decide to invest in a particular site and select designs for housing construction. Understanding local disaster risk and risk reduction measures will help the homeowners make informed decisions on safe housing. The private and public sectors can contribute to such awareness by strengthening the capacity of the construction sector. For instance, construction companies could work in partnership with the education sector to develop and establish pertinent academic, technical, and vocational courses (e.g., masonry and carpentry training based on the National Building Code provisions under the National Skills Standards Authority programme, electrical management courses, plumbing courses, etc.).

Housing finance, too, can contribute to strengthening disaster resilience by ensuring risk-informed investments are made. Though the housing finance sector in Myanmar is currently in a nascent stage in developing lending lines for a wide range of homeowners, including the lowest income groups, the integration of innovative incentives and practices such as upgrading of informal settlements and common landownership can be explored to strengthen disaster resilience.

PROVIDE OPPORTUNITIES AND MEANS FOR **MICRO AND SMALL BUSINESS** OWNERS TO REDUCE RISKS TO THEIR INTERESTS AND THE URBAN SETTING MORE BROADLY

The majority of businesses in urban areas are small. These micro and small businesses, often operating from homes, are less likely to invest in disaster resilience measures than larger businesses. It is important to strengthen the capacity of these small businesses, including businesses owned by women, by assessing disaster risk; taking actions to reduce risks to assets, stocks, and supply chains; and managing the residual risk through businesss continuity planning and access to insurance.

While the Ministry of Construction has a crucial role in strengthening overall disaster resilience of the urban sector by establishing the enabling environment (through risk-sensitive spatial plans and land use policies, implementation of risk-sensitive building codes, and factoring current and future risk considerations in siting and design of public infrastructure), the private stakeholders (e.g., communities, households, and businesses) play an increasingly important role in strengthening disaster resilience, as they are at the forefront of shaping disaster risks. This is especially important since urban communities are often not as cohesive as those in rural areas and the networks of trust and relationships of mutual support are usually not as evident, either due to recent migration or higher degrees of mobility than in rural areas. Thus, there is need to promote community and inclusivity through civic engagement, trust-building programs (such as women's savings schemes or infrastructure works, and other social capital building activities), and participatory planning, which will also contribute to strengthening disaster resilience.

3.1.3. STRENGTHENING COMMUNITY DISASTER RESILIENCE THROUGH FORESTRY

STRENGTHEN AND SCALE UP COMMUNITY FORESTRY PROGRAMS TO ACHIEVE MULTIPLE BENEFITS INCLUDING DISASTER RESILIENCE

Obvious opportunities for strengthening community disaster resilience are the community forestry programs implemented in different parts of the country, including the peoplecentered community forestry approaches being implemented in the Ayeyarwaddy Delta, the Yangon Delta region, and the central dry zone.



© Action Aid

These aim to promote sustainable management of natural forests by decentralizing forest management to established forest user groups. Among the benefits of community forestry is its importance for sustaining local livelihoods and watershed management with respect to major dams, reservoirs, and water sources and as an opportunity to mitigate and adapt to climate change. A community approach like this is noted in the country's National Adaptation Programme of Action as one of the most important aspects for increasing the adaptive capacity of the forest sector to climate change.¹⁶

Staff from the Forest Department, Ministry of Environmental Conservation and Forest at the township level conduct field visits (e.g., involving community education activities and workshops) to discuss the impact of environmental deterioration with community members, including with women and other vulnerable groups. Recognizing the close relationship between deforestation and increased risk of disaster (e.g., flooding, erosion, drought, landslides, storm surges, and tsunami), such dialogue with the communities should also emphasize the benefits of forestry from the viewpoint of disaster resilience.

Other reforestation-related efforts, such as the ones being undertaken in the Ayeyarwaddy Delta and the Yangon Delta region and the initiatives under REDD+, also provide opportunities to strengthen disaster resilience. This includes the establishment of approximately 65,000 hectares of plantation forests comprising mangrove, bamboo, and other forestry species. Importantly, these projects, in addition to providing protection, seek to demonstrate the immediate benefits of reforestation to local people's livelihoods, such as through healthier fish populations that support a sustainable income source, thereby increasing demand for forestry initiatives. Such an approach is vital so that forestry is not seen as competing with short-term economic needs, but rather is vital to economic progress today and in the future.

¹⁶ Government of Myanmar, Ministry of Transport, Department of Meteorology and Hydrology. 2012. Myanmar's National Adaptation Programme of Action (NAPA) to Climate Change. Nay Pyi Taw.

3.2. REACHING OUT TO THE MOST VULNERABLE THROUGH KEY THEMES OF DEVELOPMENT

Key themes of development such as financial inclusion and social protection provide opportunities to reach out to the most vulnerable. They provide support in reducing risk and managing residual disaster risk, thereby strengthening overall disaster resilience at the community level. There are also needs for implementing actions which have DRM as the primary objective, thus requiring it to be an additional theme of development. Similar to the sectors described in section 3.1, opportunities in thematic areas should also adopt a coherent approach to strengthen community disaster resilience, including community empowerment, risk-informed basis for action, and disaster risk governance.

3.2.1. STRENGTHENING COMMUNITY DISASTER RESILIENCE THROUGH FINANCIAL INCLUSION

The opportunities for strengthening community disaster resilience through financial inclusion include supporting the scaling up of savings groups, strengthening the risk management function of microfinance institutions (MFIs), strengthening the functioning of the Myanmar Agricultural Development Bank, and promoting disaster insurance.

SCALE UP **SAVINGS GROUPS** TO PROVIDE ECONOMIC SAFETY NETS AND ENCOURAGE RESILIENCE-BUILDING

Savings groups are mostly rural based, selfmanaged, and established in a community as a poverty alleviation strategy (typically by NGOs and community-based organizations) to facilitate access to credit for household consumption or livelihood purposes. The savings groups as a mechanism offer opportunities to strengthen community disaster resilience by (i) leveraging community capital and management of resources; (ii) forming strong relationships among the members of the savings groups, leading to social capital and its invaluable benefits in crisis settings; (iii) providing emergency funds to alleviate hardships of members when disaster strikes (when it is not a shock that affects the entire population); and (iv) offering a wide scope in use for business or non-business purposes, which may include spending on resilience-building measures, for example, shelter upgrade measures and livelihood strengthening. Resilience may be further deepened as savings group members build economic assets, applying their experience and confidence to access a wider and often more affordable range of financial services from formal financial service providers, such as banks and MFIs.



© UNICEF

BUILD THE RISK MANAGEMENT CAPABILITY OF MICROFINANCE INSTITUTIONS

MFIs are well suited to directly contribute to a community's disaster resilience given their social mandate to support women, poor and low-income households, their loan capacity, scalability, reasonable pricing, institutional capacity (to access and manage resources), and existing networks of clients.

In the context of disaster resilience, MFIs provide households with dependable and transparent access to capital to strengthen and diversify livelihoods, build social capital within group lending structures, provide economic safety nets through savings and income-generation opportunities, and can potentially increase awareness on disaster risk and DRM measures. These benefits may be complemented through formal or informal partnerships with NGOs, equipment vendors, and business partners seeking to leverage an MFI's delivery channel for financial or non-financial purposes. Working in partnership with the government, MFIs may also serve as important financial delivery channels supporting social protection programs such as cash-for-work programs in a post-disaster setting. Figure 4 provides examples of various products and services that can be offered by MFIs in support of disaster resilience.

IMPROVE THE CAPABILITY OF MYANMAR AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT BANK CAPABILITY TO SUPPORT RURAL LIVELIHOODS IN THE FACE OF DISASTER RISKS

The Myanmar Agricultural Development Bank is the largest rural credit institution in the country, providing primarily subsidized crop loans (10 acres maximum) and savings to approximately 2 million farmers (88% paddy cultivation) through a network of over 200 branches. This extensive outreach of the bank provides an important opportunity to reach some of the most at-risk population. However, given its concentration on agriculture finance, the Myanmar Agricultural Development Bank's loan portfolio remains exposed to various risks (including occurrence of disasters, plagues, and commodity price fluctuations), which may severely affect the ability of borrowers to repay. Moreover, in the event of wide-scale crop failure (disaster induced or otherwise), settling multiple loan defaults is complicated and arduous and comes with great potential for institutional loss. Recognizing the bank's critical role in supporting the nation's agriculture sector and rural livelihoods, the Myanmar Agricultural Development Bank should therefore apply appropriate technical, financial, and management resources toward reducing the community risk profile within the rural finance sector. Risk management measures could include insurance provision, as well as loan restructuring strategies applied within a disaster context.



3.1.2.4. STRENGTHEN AND EXPAND DISASTER RISK INSURANCE OPTIONS FOR COMMUNITIES AT-RISK

Disaster insurance can provide rapid access to postdisaster liquidity, thereby supporting communities to recover their lives and livelihoods. Myanmar's insurance sector is vastly underdeveloped. Only 2% of the farmers have insurance from a regulated institution and 42% rely on savings or borrowings to manage the impact of insurable risk events.¹⁷ Options such as weather-index agricultural insurance closely linked with long-term early warning systems and microinsurance coupled with credit could be explored. These measures hold significant disaster resilience benefits for Myanmar's rural communities and households (see section 3.1.1). Spurring insurance outreach will require mutually beneficial partnerships among MFIs and the insurance sector, as well as reliable datasets and models on disaster risk and agricultural yields.

3.2.2. STRENGTHENING COMMUNITY DISASTER RESILIENCE THROUGH SOCIAL PROTECTION

Social protection programs such as cash transfers and cash for work provide opportunities to deliver targeted (such as to women-headed households) and immediate support to communities affected by disasters, thereby reducing their impact and contributing to overall community resilience. By linking with community-driven development programs, social protection programs can also help the affected communities recover their livelihoods and replace or reconstruct damaged assets to higher standards of resilience. Taken as a whole, social protection-related interventions are particularly important in different stages of the post-disaster context, starting from response and early recovery to long-term reconstruction.

UTILIZE **CASH TRANSFERS** TO SUPPORT DISASTER-AFFECTED COMMUNITIES AND SCALE UP PROGRAMS

Currently, cash transfers are used for providing allowances to pregnant women and children up to the age of 2 years, allowances for all children aged 3–15 years, allowances for children and adults with disabilities, and social pensions for all citizens aged 65 years or older. Cash transfers are intended

⁻⁻⁻⁻⁻

¹⁷ Centre for Financial Regulation and Inclusion. 2014. Making Access Possible: Myanmar Synthesis Note 2014.



© UNICEF

to alleviate hardships in poor households, incentivize development of long-term human capital by focusing on children, and provide a predictable source of financial resources among the aged. These existing cash transfer programs, by building flexibility into their design, could be used to support targeted beneficiaries in postdisaster response and the early recovery process. The flexibility may allow the conditionality (if any) associated with cash transfer programs to be waived for a specific period of time (e.g., the period of declaration of a natural disaster zone as outlined in the Natural Disaster Management Law, 2013) in order to deliver cash to its targeted beneficiaries as quickly as possible, and minimize the adoption of negative coping strategies.

Similarly, the existing targeting mechanism of the cash transfer programs can be used by development partners to top up grants to affected beneficiaries or to target the affected population currently not covered under the cash transfer programs. In addition, the community consultation, awareness raising, and capacitybuilding processes undertaken as part of implementing the cash transfer programs could also include increasing awareness on disaster risk and basic DRM measures.

Anticipating that disaster risk will continue to increase over the next few decades, the need for additional scalable emergency cash transfer programs with the primary objective to respond

to disasters should be explored. Scaling up such a program would be especially relevant in rural areas with high levels of seasonal unemployment, food insecurity, and indebtedness. The Operational Manual for a Social Protection Response to the Flood and Landslide Emergency, recently developed by the Department of Social Welfare, Ministry of Social Welfare, Relief and Resettlement in response to the 2015 floods and landslides, provides a step-by-step implementation guide to emergency cash transfer programs and is therefore an important first step. However, such emergency cash transfer programs would require predictable financing mechanisms (the need for strengthened linkage with wider disaster risk financing and the disaster management fund established under the Natural Disaster Management Law, 2013), as well as ensuring that the implementation capacity is in place at the local level.

IMPROVE THE ABILITY OF COMMUNITIES TO COPE AND RECOVER FROM DISASTER THROUGH **CASH-FOR-**WORK

Existing public employment programs provide local employment against seasonal variation and could be very effective in reducing hardships of disaster-affected communities and in a postdisaster context. By scaling up such cash-forwork programs and by introducing flexibility, for example, allowing more number of days of employment or adjusting the minimum wage (without distorting the labor market), the programs can provide dual benefits of delivering cash to the affected beneficiaries and executing response and early recovery-related projects. Where needed, the design of these public works programs can also be modified from providing temporary employment to supporting long-term recovery by involving the communities in the reconstruction of damaged infrastructure. In such cases, capacity building of beneficiaries on hazard-resilient construction should be introduced. Moreover, depending on the scope (short-term vs. long-term employment), close coordination might be required between different ministries and departments.

ENHANCE **SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS** TO ACHIEVE STRONGER RESILIENCE BUILDING BENEFITS

A number of existing community development programs could be capitalized upon to build community resilience to disasters. For instance, scaling up school stipend programs piloted by the Ministry of Education could provide an incentive for children to go back to school after a disaster has disrupted education. Similarly, the architecture established as part of communitydriven development programs could be used to identify beneficiaries and channel resources for emergency cash transfer programs (see section 3.1.1).

INTRODUCE PROVISIONS IN THE SOCIAL SECURITY SYSTEM TO REDUCE DISASTER IMPACTS

The social security system could also be utilized in a post-disaster context to reduce the suffering of the affected population. The current social security system in Myanmar includes insurance policies related to health, family insurance, and accident insurance. Insured workers affected by disasters can access medical-related in-kind and cash support. The social security system also covers other social protection schemes related to temporary and permanent disability, and retirement-related benefits, including (i) cash payments for sickness, maternity, funeral, temporary and permanent disability, and survivor's pensions; and (ii) in-kind benefits in the form of free medical care in a network of public hospitals and dispensaries, as well as reimbursements for costs associated with referrals to other hospitals. With the coverage of such programs expected to increase in the future, social security systems can introduce provisions to reduce the impact of disasters in the post-disaster context, such as pension advances and a moratorium on repayment of loans.



© UNICEF

SUPPORT SOCIAL PROTECTION SERVICE CENTERS IN THEIR ABILITY TO PROVIDE POST-DISASTER COUNSELING

The Social Protection Strategic Plan 2014 aims to open 330 social protection centers at the township level and to recruit at least 6,000 social workers, trained in case management and networking methodologies. Currently in a pilot phase, these case managers work with the communities and link them with government departments and development partners in social protectionrelated activities. The case managers played an essential role in providing psychosocial support and preventing and responding to protection concerns during the 2015 floods and landslides. The network of social workers should be seen as an asset to identify the most vulnerable population and to provide post-disaster counselling. Additionally, partnerships with Disaster Risk Youth Volunteers should be strengthened to ensure post-disaster response reaches those most affected (see section 3.2.3).

3.2.3. STRENGTHENING DISASTER PREPAREDNESS

Several important efforts exist in support of community disaster preparedness. These efforts can be built on for strengthened progress.

ENSURE EARLY WARNING SYSTEMS PROVIDE COMMUNITIES WITH TIMELY ACCESS TO RELIABLE AND USER-FRIENDLY INFORMATION

Early warning in Myanmar is necessary for a broad range of hazards (i.e., floods, landslides, drought, cyclones and storm surge, tsunami, forest fires, and haze). An "end-to-end" people-centered early warning system can be a key factor in the protection of people's lives and belongings, encompassing risk knowledge, warning service, dissemination, and response capability. Thus, along with initiatives to strengthen the technological capability to observe conditions, determine whether an extreme event will occur, and disseminate this information accordingly, it is



© RRD/UNDP

important that the early warning is adapted to the specific needs of at-risk communities (including the different needs of women, the elderly, people with disabilities), delivered in accessible ways, and understood by the communities. To be desirable, an early warning system has to be recognized as being able to support decision making that results in beneficial outcomes.

The Ministry of Transport, Department of Meteorology and Hydrology houses the National Hydro-Meteorological Service of Myanmar and is responsible for monitoring, forecasting, and warning for severe weather, hydrological, and seismic events. In addition, various departments have their own observation stations. For example, drought monitoring is mainly undertaken by the Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock and Irrigation. The National Multi-Hazard Early Warning Center located in the Department of Meteorology and Hydrology is supported by the Emergency Operation Center located in the Department of Relief and Resettlement with real-time hazard information collected from regional and global networks.¹⁸ Warnings (and

18 For example, close ties exist with the ASEAN Coordinating Centre for Humanitarian Assistance in Jakarta. forecasts) are shared with national print media and electronic media (e.g., TV and radio) as well as with the state and regional governments (via fax). The state or regional government informs the Township General Administration Department to disseminate the warning (or forecast) to the communities through administrative channels.

Improving the system would include collecting reliable information (which is also required for developing disaster risk insurance, see section 3.2.1) and strengthening the communication channels between the Department of Meteorology and Hydrology, line ministries, and the General Administration Department. In turn, communication channels from the General Administration Department down to the state, region, township, village tract, and village levels could be strengthened, including use of mobile phones and social media. Partnerships between agencies involved in data collection also need to be improved. Weather and climate-related data collected by different government agencies should be shared for the benefit of the country's weather and climate services system.

INTEGRATE DISASTER MANAGEMENT PLANNING IN LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES

The Disaster Management Rules, which build on the Natural Disaster Management Law, 2013, lay out a framework and institutional setup for strengthening DRM in Myanmar. This includes establishing disaster management committees and developing disaster management plans from the township to the village level. However, the disaster management planning process (committees and plans) between village tracts and wards as well as the township disaster management plans should be further strengthened. So too should their linkages with wider development planning processes (e.g., the disaster risk assessments required as part of disaster management plans should inform the village development plans and township development plans, see section 3.1.1). This will help overcome the impediments related to viewing disaster risk reduction as a separate subject and help ensure risk reduction measures are prioritized amid the numerous demands on local officials. At the same time, it will help ensure disaster preparedness measures (e.g., strengthening capacity for community first aid, pre-positioning stocks, and promoting construction of safe shelters) are also prioritized.

Importantly, local development planning processes (e.g., at the village, village tract or

ward, and township levels) are very well placed to strengthen DRM planning themselves. The context-specific nature of disaster risk is well understood at this level of administration, and channels of communication through local leaders and other community representatives can be opened. Additionally, at the local level, crosssector barriers hindering coordination and holistic approaches that may exist at the union and state or region level are less evident. Thus, local levels of government administration can thereby relate to and respect bottom–up processes. Moreover, they are also the final level of central resource allocation. Combined, this makes them crucial for effective disaster management planning.

BUILD ON THE **YOUTH VOLUNTEER PROGRAMS** TO STRENGTHEN NETWORKS AND CAPACITY FOR DRM

The youth are among the groups disproportionately affected by extreme poverty, unemployment, social exclusion, and lack of access to education. This can also render them vulnerable to natural hazards. However, the youth bring different perspectives in understanding risk and can act at agents of change. Hence, it is important to strengthen their participation in community disaster resilience activities and equip them with necessary knowledge and skills for preparedness and response.



© RRD/UNDP

The Myanmar Action Plan on Disaster Risk Reduction promotes the involvement of youth volunteers in DRM. In 2014, the Department of Relief and Resettlement launched the Disaster **Risk Youth Volunteer Programme. Volunteers** are expected to raise disaster awareness at the community level, improve community knowledge and the early warning system, act as first responders as well as act as the operational arm of township disaster management committees to connect the community with external agencies and partners, and contribute to response and recovery activities. To date, the Department of Relief and Resettlement has trained a network of approximately 10,000 youth volunteers from over 800 villages in disaster preparedness and response (out of an estimated need of up to 230,000 volunteers for all village tracts and wards). Through

training-of-trainers courses, the intent is to provide multiplier courses in the state or region with assistance from respective department officials. By integrating youth volunteers in village tract or ward (and, where possible, township) disaster management committees, the Department of Relief and Resettlement seeks to strengthen the uptake of local disaster management plans at higher levels of government administration. This requires undertaking training for youth volunteers on how they can support existing community structures for preparedness and response, and to ensure that community-level preparedness and response are inclusive and address the needs of the most vulnerable (including women, children, people with disabilities, the elderly, and others) and utilize their capacities.

Coordination is also required to ensure that the remit of Disaster Risk Youth Volunteers complements that of other volunteers (e.g., through the Department of Rural Development, Department of Social Welfare, plus Myanmar Red Cross volunteers). Similarly, the policy and legal framework needs to be established to regulate the links between youth volunteers and the functions of the General Administration Department and existing disaster management committees.

3.3. STRENGTHENING COORDINATION

Strengthening disaster resilience at the community level through relevant sectors and themes of development will require influencing the planning, budgeting, and larger decision-making processes associated with local development and delivery of services. At the same time, prioritizing resiliencebuilding measures at the community level will require finding a match between bottom-up planning that may lean toward "wish lists" and top-down programs that may fail to prioritize local needs related to disaster risk reduction, especially because they do not necessarily generate immediate tangible outcomes or revenue flows. For example, the disaster risk-sensitive village development plans and their accompanying village investment programs should be consolidated and integrated with the township development plan and budget, where funds for local development are available from the union budget and a small yet significant proportion from other sources, particularly the development partners. To overcome these challenges, strong horizontal and vertical coordination is needed at all levels of public administration. The evolving process of decentralization, accompanied by the broadening policy landscape for DRM, is creating space for this much needed coordination at the village tract, township, state or region, and union levels.

COORDINATION AT THE TOWNSHIP AND VILLAGE TRACT LEVEL

Townships are the key building blocks of public administration in Myanmar, and coordination between various township-level committees (e.g., management, development, and disaster management) is critical for achieving the desired outcomes of community disaster resilience. This is particularly important because community needs are usually prioritized in townships and assigned to funding sources. Furthermore, resilience-building measures do not necessarily require totally separate financial resources, but rather an integrated approach that allows sharing of resources within sectors with the understanding that actions in one can strengthen resilience in others.

The implementation rules of the Natural Disaster Management Law, 2013 require townships to establish a township disaster management committee and to develop a township disaster management plan based on inputs from all village tracts and sectors. Since the implementation of community disaster resilience is embedded in wider sectors and themes of development, there is a need for the township disaster management committees to influence development and service deliveryrelated decision making at the township level (representatives of state and region governments as well as the union line ministries). This includes the township management committee, the township

development support committee, the township development affairs committee (largely for urban functions), and the farmland management body. With the composition of these committees ranging from all government officials in the case of the township management committee to a mix of elected public representatives (e.g., township elders, business sector, and civil society) and government officials in the case of the township development affairs committee, the coordination should result in increased prioritization of the realistic "on-the-ground" needs expressed by the communities. To some extent, the overlap between the members of the various committees should make this coordination easier. The coordination also needs to extend to structures and committees established under various local development funds that have emerged over the years as individual initiatives.

Close harmonization is required between the township disaster management plan and the township development plan. The township disaster management plan, while reflecting community needs, should not be a wish list of projects but rather an outcome of meaningful local planning processes that prioritize local choices recognizing the budget constraints and possible opportunities available in different sectors, local development funds, and social services provided by the state and regional government. Similar coordination needs to be mirrored at the village tract or ward level between the village tract or ward disaster management committee and the village tract or ward development support committee. With the passage of the Natural Disaster Management Law, 2013, the village tract administrator (elected by the heads of 10 households and reporting to the township administrator) has the responsibility to develop and implement the village tract disaster management plan in cooperation with the communities. The village tract administrator should ensure that the plan formulation process includes consultations with various interest groups, community-based organizations, the local private sector, and disaster risk youth volunteers. There is need for close coordination between the village tract disaster management planning and the village development planning processes. Linkages between community-based DRM projects supported by NGOs and the priorities identified in village tract disaster management plans also need to be strengthened. The village tract administrator is in a key position to strengthen coordination and advocate for resilience building at the village tract and township levels. With the Village Act 2012, new opportunities for dialogue and partnership between communities and government agencies represented at the village tract level are gradually increasing. In the long run, this will contribute to resilience building.



© RRD/UNDP

COORDINATION BETWEEN UNION MINISTRIES AND DEPARTMENTS

With many development and fiscal responsibilities concentrated at the union level, the relevant departments in the sector ministries often need to play a major role in achieving community disaster resilience. Following the principles of people-centered development, ministries are increasingly attempting to gather information on local priorities from their subnational units, and this approach needs to continue and improve over time.

Moreover, with efforts in one sector or theme closely linked to others, successful implementation of the National Framework will require close intraand inter-ministerial coordination. For example, in the case of agriculture, strengthening community disaster resilience will require close coordination between various divisions and departments of the Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock and Irrigation. The involvement of the Agricultural Extension Division will be critical for conducting farmer field schools

as well as that of the Agriculture Research Division and Seed Division for developing, producing, and distributing climate-resilient seed varieties. At an inter-ministerial level, close collaboration will be required with the Ministry of Social Welfare, Relief and Resettlement's Department of Social Welfare to strengthen linkages with social protection programs, such as providing cash grants and vouchers to buy seeds and tools in order to reduce the losses incurred from disasters, and to establish seed banks at the village level to provide seeds for the farmers in time of disasters. With risk-informed decision making being one of the key approaches for strengthening community disaster resilience, a close working relationship between various departments of the Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock and Irrigation and the Ministry of Transport's Department of Meteorology and Hydrology will also be important. Many other ministries and departments are also likely to have shared interests in agriculture-related community resilience building. Further, coordination between the ministries and departments has to be mirrored at the state, region, and township level.

COORDINATION BETWEEN MEMBERS OF THE NATIONAL COMMITTEE ON DISASTER MANAGEMENT

In line with the directions of the Natural Disaster Management Law, 2013, the Relief and Resettlement Department in its capacity as the secretariat of the National Committee on Disaster Management should undertake coordination with different union line ministries involved in implementing community disaster resiliencerelated activities as part of their mandate. Such activities should also be captured in their respective disaster management plans and reported in the National Disaster Management Plan. The Department of Relief and Resettlement should also undertake similar coordination with the various states and regions and ensure that the state and regional disaster management plans capture the priorities related to strengthening community disaster resilience.

3.4. ENHANCING CAPACITY

Effective implementation of resilience-building measures at the community level will require sustained capacity within communities, and at all levels of public administration, especially with the increasing trend to devolve responsibilities from the union to local level. Moving beyond ad hoc training, a comprehensive approach for capacity building is needed. It should result in a behavioral change among the communities, civil society organizations, the private sector, and the civil servants in viewing disaster risk as an integral part of local development. It will also result in a shift in the way disaster risks and corresponding community needs for resilience building are identified and prioritized within long-term development processes. The capacity building courses being rolled out through the newly established Disaster Management Training Center of the Department of Relief and Resettlement provides a starting point.

CAPACITY AT THE COMMUNITY LEVEL

First, comprehensive investment to raise awareness of communities in understanding disaster risk and relevant measures that foster disaster resilience (e.g., diversifying livelihoods, hazard-resilient housing construction, protecting the natural environment, and improving social capital) is required. This will derive community disaster resilience benefits across all relevant sectors and themes.

Second, there is need for improved skills in community participation, negotiation with public authorities and the private sector, as well as community knowledge about development planning, sources of funds available for resilience building at the local level, and criteria for assessing community projects for them to be eligible for specific funding.

Third, technical skills on disaster-resilient construction are needed, especially because many of the community-based projects funded through local development funds are implemented by communities themselves. Such skills will also be useful in the post-disaster context, when social protection programs are tapped for involving the affected communities in reconstructionrelated activities. Skills development on resilient livelihoods—farmers need training on the use



© UN-Habitat

of climate-resilient techniques for agriculture (e.g., crop rotation, mixed farming, use of climateresilient crop varieties, and soil conservation techniques)—and on diversifying livelihoods is required. Such skills development training sessions can be organized as part of agriculture or rural development programs to build skills among agricultural workers on various incomegeneration activities according to their interest, available job opportunity, demand in target areas and neighboring towns, and the risks from climate-related hazards. Self-help groups can be formed and organized, especially targeted at women, with capacity building to help establish income-generation activities and setting up microenterprises.

Fourth, enhanced capacity of communities to understand disaster risk information including early warning (i.e., weather forecast and seasonal forecasts) and to take actions to save lives, livelihoods, and property is required. In addition, the capacity of communities to properly maintain defensive infrastructure such as embankments needs to be strengthened.

Initiatives supported by NGOs, if designed in alignment with local development processes, can play a critical role in increasing the capacity of communities. Close partnerships should also be established with MFIs, which because of their social mandate provide education and training to their clients.

CAPACITY AT VILLAGE TRACT OR WARD LEVELS

With village tract or ward administrators representing the communities, it is important to strengthen their capacity and that of the members of the various committees at the village tract or ward level (including the development support committee members and disaster management committee members) to understand disaster risk and its linkages with development and people's lives.

Since the administrators and the committee members need to facilitate the communities in the village development planning process and in formulating the disaster management plans, it is necessary to strengthen their capacity to understand hazards and disaster risk (and how disaster risk is changing), facilitate participatory processes, develop disaster management plans (as outlined in the Natural Disaster Management Law, 2013), and integrate priority actions identified in the disaster management plans to the village development plans. Moreover, they need the skills to package, present, and negotiate funding for resilience-building measures with the township authorities and to act as a feedback mechanism to the communities.

Finally, they should also have the capacity to undertake post-disaster response and damage and needs assessment.

GOVERNMENT OFFICIALS AT THE TOWNSHIP LEVEL

A targeted approach is required to strengthen the capacity of members of the various township committees, officials of union line ministries at the township level, and other civil servants, based on their roles and responsibilities in public administration. While all officials would benefit from a broad understanding of disaster risk and its linkages with development, targeted skills building is required for: members of the township development sector committees and the township management committees on undertaking riskinformed decisions; representatives of union line ministries present at the township level on sector-specific risks and risk reduction measures; township development affairs committee (for urban areas) on adopting participatory processes in risk-sensitive spatial planning; and for township development affairs engineers (in urban areas) on hazard-resilient building construction. The training being conducted by the National Disaster Management Training Center should largely focus on the township level and be tailor-made to meet the requirements of the township officials.

Similar capacity building efforts need to be carried out at the *state, region, and union level*.

3.5. MONITORING AND EVALUATING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE NATIONAL FRAMEWORK

With the implementation of community disaster resilience measures embedded in the sectors and themes of development, the monitoring process will be led by the concerned union line ministry, and state or regional government. Depending on the entry point, it should follow the existing procedures of monitoring the respective plans, programs, and funds. Over time, with strengthened capacity and coordination systems in place, the indicators used for monitoring the said plan, program, and/or fund are expected to start capturing information on reduction in disaster losses at the village tract level. The monitoring mechanism of the disaster management plans at all levels should likewise factor in the progress related to community disaster resilience.

However, all of this would require having in place baseline information on disaster mortality, population affected, direct physical losses suffered at the village tract level, and expenditure on post-disaster response, relief, and recovery. The ongoing initiative by the Department of Relief and Resettlement, Ministry of Social Welfare, Relief and Resettlement on developing a disaster damage and loss database is a good starting point to collect such information and should be embedded in sector databases and larger statistical system of the country. Similarly, outcomes of communityled initiatives should be documented and shared in order to develop stronger evidence on the benefits derived by investing in community disaster resilience.

More importantly, the list of sectors and themes and their corresponding entry points discussed in the National Framework is just a start for having a common understanding and adopting a coherent approach for strengthening community disaster resilience. Over time, more entry points may emerge where appetite and opportunity for strengthening community disaster resilience converge. In reality, everybody has a role to play to some extent in strengthening resilience to disasters and climate change.

BIBLIOGRAPHY AND OTHER WORKS CONSULTED

No.	Reference	Link
1	ADB. 2015. Mandalay Urban Services Improvement Project: Toward a green Mandalay. Manila.	https://www.adb.org/publications/toward-green- mandalay
2	M. Arnold, R. Mearns, K. Oshima, and V. Prasad. 2014. Climate and Disaster Resilience: The role for community-driven development. Washington, D.C.	http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/898881468182364910/Climate-and-disaster- resilience-the-role-for-Community-Driven-Development- CDD
3	ASEAN. 2009. ASEAN Agreement on Disaster Management and Emergency Response. Vientiane.	http://agreement.asean.org/media/ download/20140119170000.pdf
4	A. Benito and E. Barrios. 2016. Convergent Agency: Encouraging Transdisciplinary Approaches for Effective Climate Change Adaptation and Disaster Risk Reduction. International Journal of Disaster Risk Science 7 (4), 430-435.	http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s13753- 016-0102-9
5	T.V. Bowen. 2015. Social protection and disaster risk management in the Philippines: The case of Typhoon Yolanda (Haiyan). Policy Research Working Paper No. WPS 7482. Washington, D.C.	http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/681881468181128752/Social-protection-and- disaster-risk-management-in-the-Philippines-the-case-of- typhoon-Yolanda-Haiyan
6	BRACED Myanmar Alliance. 2015. Community resilience assessment and action handbook. Yangon.	http://www.braced.org/resources/i/?id=127f0e24- a44a-4468-abca-96db853f6558
7	H.G. Brauch, U. O. Spring, J. Grin, and J. Scheffran. 2016. Handbook on Sustainability Transition and Sustainable Peace. Springer International Publishing Switzerland.	http://www.springer.com/gp/book/9783319438825
8	Center for Excellence in Disaster Management & Humanitarian Assistance. 2014. Burma (Myanmar) Disaster Management Reference Handbook. Joint Base Pearl Harbor-Hickam.	https://www.cfe-dmha.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=z f5i3c7xwDA%3De3portalid=0
9	J. Chong, A, Gero, and P. Treichel. 2015. What Indicates Improved Resilience to Climate Change? A Learning and Evaluative Process Developed From a Child-Centered, Community-Based Project in the Philippines. New Directions for Evaluation, Issue 147, 105- 116.	http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ ev.20134/abstract
10	S.L. Cutter, K.D. Ash, and C.T. Emrich. 2016. Urban–Rural Differences in Disaster Resilience. Annals of the American Association of Geographers 106 (6), 1236-1252.	http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/24694 452.2016.1194740?journalCode=raag21
11	K.W. Dungan. 2016. Incorporating Resiliency Concepts into NFPA Codes and Standards. Springer-Verlag New York.	http://www.springer.com/gp/book/9781493965106
12	Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar. 2012. Framework for Economic and Social Reforms. Policy Priorities for 2012-15 towards the Long-Term Goals of the National Comprehensive Development Plan (Draft). Nay Pyi Taw.	https://mdricesd.files.wordpress.com/2015/10/paper- fesr-2012-15-jan-2013.pdf
13	Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar. 2014. Myanmar Financial Inclusion Roadmap 2014-2020. Nay Pyi Taw.	http://www.uncdf.org/sites/default/files//Documents/ myanmar_roadmap_repro.pdf
14	Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar. 2014. Myanmar National Social Protection Strategic Plan. Nay Pyi Taw.	http://themimu.info/node/21180
15	Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar. 2013. Natural Disaster Management Law (The Pyidaungsu Hluttaw Law No. 21/2013). Nay Pyi Taw.	http://www.themimu.info/sites/themimu.info/ files/documents/Natural_Disaster_Management_ Law_2013_ENG.pdf
16	Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar. 2012. The Environmental Conservation Law. The Pyidaungsu Hluttaw Law No. 9 / 2012. Nay Pyi Taw.	http://wnm.altsean.org/Docs/Laws/ Environmental%20Conservation%20Law.pdf

17	Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar, Ministry of Environmental Conservation and Forestry. 2012. Myanmar's Initial National Communication under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). Nay Pyi Taw.	http://unfccc.int/resource/docs/natc/mmrnc1.pdf
18	Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar. 1992. The Forest Law (1992). The State Law and Order Restoration Council Law No. 8/92. Nay Pyi Taw.	http://displacementsolutions.org/wp-content/uploads/ THE-FOREST-LAW-1992.pdf
19	Government of the Union of Myanmar, Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation, Ministry of Livestock, Fisheries & Rural Development; FAO; and WFP. 2015. Agriculture and Livelihood Flood Impact Assessment in Myanmar. Nay Pyi Taw.	http://www.fao.org/emergencies/resources/documents/ resources-detail/en/c/338553/
20	Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar, Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation. 2015. Myanmar Climate-Smart Agriculture Strategy. Nay Pyi Taw.	https://cgspace.cgiar.org/rest/bitstreams/63308/ retrieve
21	Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar, Ministry of Environmental Conservation and Forestry. 2015. Myanmar's Intended Nationally Determined Contribution- INDC. Nay Pyi Taw.	http://www4.unfccc.int/submissions/INDC/ Published%20Documents/Myanmar/1/ Myanmar's%20INDC.pdf
22	Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar, Ministry of Home Affairs. 2012. The Ward or Village Tract Administration Law. Nay Pyi Taw.	http://wnw.altsean.org/Docs/Laws/Ward%20or%20 Village-tract%20Administration%20Law.pdf
23	Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar, Ministry of Immigration and Population. 2014. The 2014 Myanmar Population and Housing Census.	http://www.themimu.info/census-data
24	Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar, Ministry of Livestock, Fisheries and Rural Development. 2014. Rural Development Strategic Framework. Nay Pyi Taw.	
25	Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar, Ministry of Livestock, Fisheries and Rural Development, Department of Rural Development. 2015. Guidelines on Village Development Planning Process, Myanmar. Nay Pyi Taw.	
26	Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar, Ministry of Social Welfare, Relief and Resettlement, Department of Social Welfare, Myanmar National Committee on Women's Affairs. 2013. Myanmar Strategic Plan for the Advancement of Women (2013- 2022). Nay Pyi Taw.	http://myanmar.unfpa.org/sites/asiapacific/files/pub- pdf/NSPAW2013-2022_0.pdf
27	Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar, Ministry of Social Welfare, Relief and Resettlement, Relief and Resettlement Department. 2009. Myanmar Action Plan on Disaster Risk Reduction (MAPDRR) 2009-2015. Nay Pyi Taw.	http://www.preventionweb.net/files/18657_ myanmaractionplanondisasterriskredu.pdf
28	Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar, Ministry of Social Welfare, Relief and Resettlement. 2015. Notification No. 22/2014 (Disaster Management Rules). Nay Pyi Taw.	http://www.ifrc.org/Global/Publications/IDRL/ IDRL%20guidelines%20implementing%20legislation/ English%20version%20of%20%20DM%20Rules%20 (approved).pdf
29	Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar, Ministry of Transport, Department of Meteorology and Hydrology. 2012. Myanmar's National Adaptation Programme of Action (NAPA) to Climate Change. Nay Pyi Taw.	http://unfccc.int/resource/docs/napa/mmr01.pdf
30	Government of UK, Cabinet Office. 2011. Strategic National Framework on Community Resilience. London.	https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/ uploads/attachment_data/file/60922/Strategic- National-Framework-on-Community-Resilience_0.pdf

31	A. Haworth, C. Frandon-Martinez, V. Fayolle and C. Simonet. 2016. Climate resilience and financial services. London.	https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/ publications-opinion-files/10316.pdf
32	IFRC. 2014. IFRC Framework for Community Resilience. Geneva	http://www.ifrc.org/Global/Documents/ Secretariat/201501/1284000-Framework%20for%20 Community%20Resilience-EN-LR.pdf
33	K. Inada. 2014. Catalyzing subnational development in Myanmar: Balancing local preferences with national and sector policy. Yangon.	http://asiafoundation.org/publication/catalyzing- subnational-development-in-myanmar/
34	L. Juran and J. Trivedi. 2015. Women, Gender Norms, and Natural Disasters in Bangladesh. Geographical Review 105 (4), 601-611.	http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1931- 0846.2015.12089.x/abstract
35	J.M. Keenan, D.A. King, and D. Willis. 2015. Understanding Conceptual Climate Change Meanings and Preferences of Multi-Actor Professional Leadership in New York. Journal of Environmental Policy and Planning 18 (3), 261-285.	http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/15239 08X.2015.1104628?journalCode=cjoe20
36	Myanmar DRR Working Group. 2013. A situational analysis of disaster risk reduction in Myanmar. Yangon.	http://www.preventionweb.net/files/work.space/37131_ candidatepublicationasituationalana.pdf
37	M. Murase. 2016. International Efforts Toward Robustness of Flood Management. Journal of Disaster Research 11 (6), 1202- 1203.	https://www.fujipress.jp/jdr/dr/dsstr001100061202/
38	National League for Democracy. 2015. 2015 Election Manifesto (Authorised Translation). Yangon.	http://www.networkmyanmar.org/images/stories/ PDF22/NLD_2015_Election_Manifesto-English. pdf
39	K.N.B. Ninh, and M. Arnold. 2016. Decentralization in Myanmar: A Nascent and Evolving Process. Journal of Southeast Asian Economies 33 (2), 224-241.	https://muse.jhu.edu/article/628367/pdf
40	Y. Nishino and G. Koehler. 2011. Social Protection in Myanmar: Making the Case for Holistic Policy Reform. Brighton.	http://www.ids.ac.uk/publication/social-protection-in- myanmar-making-the-case-for-holistic-policy-reform
41	H. Nixon and C. Joelene. 2014. Fiscal decentralization in Myanmar: Towards a roadmap for reform. Yangon.	https://asiafoundation.org/resources/pdfs/ FiscalDecentralizationinMyanmar TowardsARoadmaptoReform.pdf
42	Ove Arup & Partners International Limited. 2014. City Resilience Index: City Resilience Framework. London.	https://www.rockefellerfoundation.org/report/city- resilience-framework/
43	M.U. SeinnSeinn, M.M. Ahmad, G.B. Thapa, R.P. Shrestha. 2015. Farmers' adaptation to rainfall variability and salinity through agronomic practices in lower Ayeyarwady Delta, Myanmar. J Earth Sci Clim Change 6: 258.	doi:10.4172/2157-7617.1000258
44	G. Simm. 2016. Disaster Response in Southeast Asia: The ASEAN Agreement on Disaster Response and Emergency Management. Asian Journal of International Law,1–27.	https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/ asian-journal-of-international-law/article/disaster- response-in-southeast-asia-asean-agreement-on- disaster-response-and-emergency-management/ FD77A7CB07AE4F4232A69237F521C450
45	C.Twigger-Ross, K. Brooks, L. Papadopoulou, P. Orr, R. Sadauskis, A.Coke, N. Simcock, A. Stirling and G. Walker. 2015. Community resilience to climate change: An evidence review. York.	https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/community-resilience- climate-change
46	UNICEF. n.d. Social protection in Myanmar: The impact of innovative policies on poverty. New York.	http://www.unicef.org/myanmar/Social_impact_study_ version_2_(Fianl_Draft).pdf
47	UNISDR. 2015. Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015-2030. Geneva.	http://www.unisdr.org/we/inform/publications/43291

48	United Nations. 2015. Global Assessment Report on Disaster Risk Reduction 2015. Making Development Sustainable: The Future of Disaster Risk Management. New York.	http://wnm.preventionweb.net/english/hyogo/ gar/2015/en/home/GAR_2015/GAR_2015_1. html
49	United Nations. 2015. Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. New York.	https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/index.php?page= view&type=400&nr=2125&menu=1515
50	United Nations. 2015. Paris Agreement. New York.	http://unfccc.int/paris_agreement/items/9485.php
51	I. Villarroel and A. Mariana. 2015. Social protection delivery through community-driven development platforms : International experience and key considerations for Myanmar. Myanmar social protection notes series; note 9. Washington, D.C.	http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/638751468189539353/Social-protection-delivery- through-community-driven-development-platforms- International-experience-and-key-considerations-for- Myanmar
52	I. Villarroel and A. Mariana. 2015. The experience of cash transfers in Myanmar : Lessons from a social protection and poverty reduction perspective. Myanmar social protection notes series; note 5. Washington, D.C.	http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/473421467986306455/The-experience-of-cash- transfers-in-Myanmar-Lessons-from-a-social-protection- and-poverty-reduction-perspective
53	I. Villarroel and A. Mariana. 2015. The experience of public works programs in Myanmar : Lessons from a social protection and poverty reduction perspective. Myanmar social protection notes series; note 4. Washington, D.C.	http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/683241468179671944/The-experience-of-public- works-programs-in-Myanmar-Lessons-from-a-social- protection-and-poverty-reduction-perspective
54	E. Wilkinson, M. Budimir, A. K. Ahmed and G. Ouma. 2015. Climate informationand services in BRACED countries. Resilience Intel Issue No. 01. London.	https://www.odi.org/publications/9979-climate- information-and-services-braced-countries
55	World Bank. 2014. Another Nargis strikes every day. Post-Nargis social impacts monitoring five years on. Washington, D.C.	https://www.gfdrr.org/another-nargis-strikes-every-day
56	World Bank. 2015. Myanmar - Post-disaster needs assessment of floods and landslides : July - September 2015. Washington, D.C.	http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/646661467990966084/Myanmar-Post- disaster-needs-assessment-of-floods-and-landslides-July- September-2015
		1